INISIBLE AND EXPLOITED

A LITERATURE REVIEW OF MIGRANT WORKERS' EXPERIENCES IN EUROPEAN AGRICULTURE

> **R** OXFAM

www.oxfam.org

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Lead authors:

Oxfam Intermón: Ruiz-Ramírez, Carlos. **Instituto Universitario de Estudios sobre Migraciones** (IUEM) – Universidad Pontificia Comillas: Castillo-Rojas-Marcos, Juan; Molinero-Gerbeau, Yoan *

Oxfam acknowledges the assistance of: Anna Holmqvist, Baptiste Filloux, Cristina Rovira, Eline Achterberg, Giorgia Ceccarelli, Hanna Sarinen, Ioan Nemes, Jonathan Matthysen, Marco Herman, Maria Bardolet, Meryem Aslan, Monique Van Zijl, Sonia Díaz, Stephanie Pope, Tim Zahn, Valentin Vilanova.

Oxfam is grateful to a range of experts and organizations who generously gave their assistance: Monica Şerban and Alin Croitoru from ULBS, Lilana Keith from PICUM, and Ivan Ivanov from EFFAT

Copyedit by Tom Fuller and Alice Horrocks

Design by Marc Rechdane

Cover photo: Migrant workers picking strawberries in Spain. Photo: Pablo Tosco/Oxfam Intermon.

The research leading to these results received funding from the European Union's Horizon Programme for the SafeHabitus research project (Strengthening Farm Health and Safety Knowledge Innovation Systems, under grant agreement no. 101084270).

*The order of appearance among the three authors was decided based on the alphabetical order of their full names.

© Oxfam International June 2024

Oxfam Research Reports

Oxfam Research Reports are written to share research results, to contribute to public debate and to invite feedback on development and humanitarian policy and practice. They do not necessarily reflect Oxfam policy positions. The views expressed are those of the author and not necessarily those of Oxfam.

For more information, or to comment on this report, email Carlos.Ruiz@Oxfam.org

This publication is copyright but the text may be used free of charge for the purposes of advocacy, campaigning, education, and research, provided that the source is acknowledged in full. The copyright holder requests that all such use be registered with them for impact assessment purposes. For copying in any other circumstances, or for re-use in other publications, or for translation or adaptation, permission must be secured and a fee may be charged. Email policyandpractice@oxfam.org.uk

The information in this publication is correct at the time of going to press.

Published by Oxfam GB for Oxfam International in June 2024. DOI: 000028 Oxfam GB, Oxfam House, John Smith Drive, Cowley, Oxford, OX4 2JY, UK.

CONTENTS

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	5
Recommendations	6
1 INTRODUCTION	7
1.1 Report structure	9
2 WORKING CONDITIONS	10
2.1 Recruitment	10
2.1.1 Regular and irregular migrants	11
2.1.2 Hiring migrants in their country of origin	12
2.2 Wages	15
2.3 Precarious and unstable work	16 18
2.4 Structural determinants of working conditions 2.4.1 Piecework vs hourly pay	18 18
2.4.2 Value chains	18
2.4.3 National circuits	18
2.4.4 Intermediaries	19
3 LIVING CONDITIONS	21
3.1 Housing	21
3.1.1 In-farm accommodation	22
3.1.2 Makeshift slums	23
3.2 Transportation	25
3.2.1 Remoteness of farms	25
3.2.2 Inadequate vehicles	26
3.2.3 Inadequate public transport	27 27
3.3 Conflict, violence and non-economic patterns of inequality 3.3.1 Racial violence	28
3.3.2 Gender-based violence	29
3.3.3 Resistance	29
4 HEALTH AND SAFETY	31
4.1 Occupational accidents	31
4.2 Workers' health	32
4.3 Long-term consequences	34
4.4 Access to health services	35
5 THE IMPACT OF THE COVID-19 PANDEMIC	37
5.1 Maintaining migrant workforces	37
5.2 Public discourse	38
5.3 Working conditions	38
5.4 Migrant organization	39

6 RECOMMENDATIONS	40
6.1 The Common Agricultural Policy	41
6.2 A Human Rights Approach	42
6.3 Representation	44
6.4 Addressing Needs	45
ANNEX: METHODOLOGY	46
Academic literature search	46
Non-academic literature search	48
Analysis	49
BIBLIOGRAPHY	50
NOTES	65

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The EU's agricultural sector depends on migrant labour from more recently acceded member states, non-EU European countries, and non-European countries. A study of literature covering Finland, France, Germany, Greece, Italy, the Netherlands, Poland, Spain and Sweden shows the broad range of problems faced by millions of migrant workers who keep Europe fed. The work is hard, days often long – and employers and intermediaries can be exploitative.

Migrants can either be hired after they arrive or in their country of origin. For the latter, in order to pay lower wages and/or maintain deliberate demographic selection criteria (based on gender, origin, migration status, etc.), some employers work through intermediaries to hire 'posted workers'. Not only do these migrants often pay to be hired, but they may also find their pay reduced further to cover private health insurance when they begin working, because they are not covered by social insurance in the country they work in.

In terms of spontaneous arrivals of migrants, although a large proportion of labour is from the newest EU members, such as Romania and Bulgaria, there is a large range of nationalities represented, among which there is also a significant part of irregular migrants who do not come from the EU, i.e., those without valid paperwork to be in the country. For the latter, a work contract, even with unfair/unethical/exploitative conditions, is one of the only ways to regularize their status in Europe and obtain authorized residence in most European countries. This gives some employers greater leverage over them, and thus more opportunity to exploit them. Additionally, those holding short-term seasonal work permits face substantial challenges due to the conditions and terms

PIECEWORK is a system of payment based on the amount of work performed or units of production completed, rather than a fixed or hourly wage. Under this system, workers receive a specific amount of money for each piece produced, task completed or project finished.

of their permits and recruitment processes. Similarly, undocumented migrants find themselves in an even more precarious position, heavily dependent on their employers due to limited opportunities to regularize their status and access decent work.

Wages for staff are low, in some cases below the local minimum wage. A common tactic for underpaying migrants is to deduct the cost of basic needs such as accommodation, food and mandatory protective equipment from wages, often at inflated prices. Migrants also face delayed payments, the denial of payment, or unpaid overtime. However, workers are unlikely to complain due to fear of reprisals, ranging from being further denied work or pay, to dismissal. For those undertaking piecework, the incentive to self-exploit has serious health consequences. Housing arrangements vary. For those living on-site, provisions tend to be very basic: migrants often lodge inside cramped containers. Those who do not live on site often live in makeshift shantytowns nearby, without access to electricity, running water or other basic infrastructure. Those without an official address, cannot register with a clinic, and thus cannot access healthcare services. The remoteness of farms can make access to shops and other services difficult, and transport can be prohibitively expensive.

Without appropriate translation of safety instructions and, in many cases, the provision of legally required safety equipment, migrants are put at risk. For example, 20 workers were poisoned by phytosanitary products in Italy; and a Nicaraguan worker in Murcia, Spain, died after working 11 hours in 44°C heat without being provided water.

In some cases, employers use violence against their staff, including forcing them to remain silent about workplace abuses, confiscation of personal documents and sexual assault. In some cases, migrants' frustrations with their exploitation have led to acts of resistance. However, in most cases, employers have tended to simply replace their workforces for subsequent seasons, as a form of 'union busting' in the face of such resistance.

Although the COVID-19 pandemic caused the plight of migrant agricultural workers to enter the news in some countries, their 'essential worker' status did not result in any actual improvement in their treatment.

RECOMMENDATIONS

Migrant workers in the agricultural sector face multiple challenges in their daily lives, especially in Europe, where the situation is both severe and structural. Critical aspects include labour and wage insecurities, limited access to essential services, and insufficient protection against occupational hazards. These issues are exacerbated by the instability of their legal status and systemic discrimination, making their integration and well-being in host countries more difficult. Additionally, migrant women workers face additional challenges related to their sexual and reproductive health that can significantly impact their personal and work lives.

To address these difficulties, it is crucial to implement significant changes through effective policies and commitments both in the short and long term. Organizations like Oxfam have been actively involved in combating these inequities and human rights abuses. Based on years of experience and collaboration with various entities, we propose a comprehensive approach that includes:

- Strengthening the scope and effectiveness of the social conditionality of the Common Agricultural Policy (CAP): improving the application of policies that ensure compliance with higher labour and social standards across all agricultural programs and payments. This includes special attention to the protecting workers in sectors particularly prone to exploitation.
- Focus on Human Rights: Emphasizing the need to integrate human rights principles and ethical practices into the agri-food value chains, ensuring that agricultural policies are not only effective but also respect the fundamental rights of workers, with special consideration towards the needs of women and other vulnerable groups.

- Representation and Advocacy for Workers: Promoting greater inclusion and representation of migrant workers and other vulnerable groups in union structures and political decisions, to ensure that the measures implemented reflect and address their specific needs and challenges.
- Improvement of Living and Working Conditions: Proposing the allocation of specific resources to improve the housing and transportation conditions of migrant agricultural workers, in addition to strengthening training in occupational safety and health adapted to the cultural and linguistic diversity of the workforce.

These actions aim to create a fairer and safer working environment for migrant agricultural workers in Europe, focusing on policies that not only improve labour conditions but also promote a comprehensive respect for human rights.

These policy recommendations are detailed in the final part of this report.



View of an agricultural farm from the sky. Photo: Pablo Tosco/Oxfam Intermon.

1 INTRODUCTION

Structural changes since the 1980s have transformed the European agricultural sector.¹ The protectionism of the European Commission's Common Agricultural Policy (CAP) and its subsidies created a division of labour in which the bulk of agri-food production in the bloc fell onto the Mediterranean countries, while promoting the industrialization that gave rise to ultra-productive and globalized enclaves.² One of the most significant changes has been from traditional agriculture to mass production driven by larger companies and cooperatives, and from family/peasant labour to wage labour as the predominant sources of agri-food products for European markets.

Although family farming is still predominant in some enclaves in some countries, industrial agriculture has become the main supplier of agri-food products to the European market. Such production is characterised by employing thousands of workers to handle tasks from harvesting to packaging to produce tons of fresh fruit and vegetables ready for export across the continent. However, these industrial transformations occurred when the rural exodus, following the neoliberal leap in the European economies, was already unstoppable. With younger rural demographics leaving for the cities, immigration was the way to find workforces large enough to cover the sector's needs whit rural areas characterised by emigration and an ageing population.³

Compared to other sectors, agriculture guaranteed easy access to a job, allowing migrants to support themselves in their destination countries. Today, migrant workers have become a structural element of the agri-food chain, one of the driving forces of a critical sector for European policies.⁴

However, in addition to a job already commonly identified as one of the most dangerous,⁵ there is the fact that, on too many occasions, it is carried out by migrants in deplorable social and working conditions.⁶ In addition to practices such as paying meagre wages for long working hours and the proliferation of piecework, there is also evidence of exploitation of migrant workers in ways that systematically violate labour and human rights legislation.⁷ The proliferation of shantytowns in agricultural enclaves around the world has highlighted the undignified conditions common to the sector.⁸

To outline this complex problem and propose solutions, this report – derived from work implemented by Oxfam Intermón and the University Institute for Studies on Migration (IUEM) of Comillas University in the EU SafeHabitus project⁹ – is based on a review of academic and non-academic literature from the past five years. It assesses research on working, living, health and transport conditions for migrants working in the agri-food sector in Europe, and cross-cutting gender issues.

1.1 REPORT STRUCTURE

The report is structured as follows:

- Chapter 2 analyses the working conditions of migrant workers in the European agriculture sector;
- Chapter 3 examines their residence and transport;
- Chapter 4 contains a detailed review of both accidents and long-term occupational safety and health issues, as well as the healthcare available to migrant workers in the contexts analysed;
- Chapter 5 explores the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on migrants' lives; and
- Chapter 6 concludes the report with a series of policy recommendations aimed at addressing the problems raised.



A Polish migrant farmworker on a blueberry farm. Photo: Pablo Tosco/Oxfam Intermon.

2 WORKING CONDITIONS

2.1 RECRUITMENT

Work in the fields of Europe is physically demanding,¹⁰ involves carrying heavy objects and continuous repetitive movements for long hours in very hot or cold temperatures.¹¹ At first glance, one might think this affects migrants and natives alike. However, because of the harshness of the work and low salaries, people living in their country of birth (who have other options) are progressively abandoning the agri-industrial sector.¹² For example, in Greece, Albanian, Romanian and Asian migrants perform the most dangerous, unskilled and low-paid roles.¹³ Similar patterns have been found in Poland.¹⁴ **Table 1** (p.10) provides EU estimates calculated in 2023 for the number of seasonal workers in the agricultural sector by member state from other EU countries and non-EU countries.

MIGRANT WORKER

A person who is to be engaged, is engaged or has been engaged in a remunerated activity in a state of which they are not nationals.

POSTED WORKER

A "posted worker" is an employee who is sent by his employer to carry out a service in another EU Member State on a temporary basis, in the context of a contract of services, an intra-group posting or a hiring out through a temporary agency.

SEASONAL WORKER

A third-country national who retains their principal place of resi-dence in a third country and stays legally and temporarily in the territory of an EU Member State to carry out an activity dependent on the passing of the seasons, under one or more fixed-term work contracts concluded directly between that third-country national and the employer established in that EU Member State. This term is specifically referring to a third-country national, although it is known that other types of seasonal workers exist, e.g. for nationals within the same country, as well as intra-EU seasonal workers.

ESSENTIAL BUT INVISIBLE AND EXPLOITED

2.1.1 Regular and irregular migrants

Migrants are channelled towards agriculture, especially more physically demanding and less well-paid roles.¹⁵ due to the wage gap between their origin and destination¹⁶ and the comparison between life options in the two contexts.¹⁷ For example, for young Romanian farmworkers, migrating to Western European agricultural enclaves can serve as an entrance to paid work for individuals with no previous work experience and limited alternatives.¹⁸

According to the European Economic and Social Committee, out of the 9.2 million-strong workforce in the European agriculture sector had as of 2021, 2.4 million, 26%, were foreign seasonal workers (migrants performing farmwork in Europe for up to 9 months per year). If the whole migrant workforce was considered (including those residing and working on a permanent basis), the percentage would be even higher.¹⁹ However, this might be an underestimate due to the prevalence of irregular employment in the sector, which is essential for some migrant workers,²⁰ as finding employment is more manageable for irregular migrants in the lax legal conditions offered by agriculture in some contexts. Since finding employment is one of the only ways to regularize their status in Europe and obtain authorized residence, agriculture becomes a key entry sector, even in harshly exploitative conditions.²¹

The data presented in this EESC report are estimates and have been included because they are the only approximations available at the European level. However, the authors consider that these data are not completely reliable due to a number of limitations. These include the paucity of detailed statistics provided by EU member states, the exclusion of workers in an irregular administrative situation, and the lack of clarity on whether the terms "seasonal workers" include temporary agency workers, temporary workers or posted workers. In addition, data collection varies significantly between member states, who apply their own definitions and criteria, which is likely to result in data that are not comparable with each other.

In general, irregular migration status and its criminalization

through restrictive migration regulations exacerbate the helplessness of these workers, forcing them to accept the harshest conditions in the absence of an alternative.²² In Italy, there have been documented cases of employers choosing to deliberately not help their workers regularize their status as a strategy to keep them dependent.²³

However, irregular migrants are only a fraction of those employed in Europe's agriculture sector in exploitative conditions. Non-EU migrants come with different administrative statuses. For example, seasonal workers' permits play a significant role. The Seasonal Workers Directive 2014/36/EU49 operates as 'the main EU instrument regulating the legal migration of low-skilled third country nationals' after decades of EU member states restricting of most other channels of legal entry for low- and mid-skilled

Each state has discretion over how it implements the Directive, and generally over how it regulates the migratory movement of seasonal workers. Some national governments, such as Italy's, set quotas on how many migrants from each sector are permitted to

*migrants.*²⁴ Migrants who enter through this channel do so by renouncing certain rights, such as the right to family reunification, significant social rights²⁵ and, above all, the right to remain on the territory beyond a short, prescribed period. The logic behind this system is that these rights are the price workers must pay to be allowed access to work in Europe's fields.²⁶

Migrants are channelled towards agriculture, especially more physically demanding and less well-paid roles.

11

enter with this status.²⁷ Agreements are sometimes signed with third countries, so that their nationals can work in European fields for a maximum number of months per year – as Greece did with Albania and Egypt,²⁸ and Poland did with Ukraine and other non-EU countries in Eastern Europe²⁹ before the conflict with Russia began in 2022.

In Sweden any third-country national can obtain a work permit for up to two years on the condition that they have a job offer from a Swedish employer.³⁰ In some countries, seasonal workers do not have the right to change employers. Even where they do, factors such as the short duration of their stay, their precarious administrative status and their exclusion from local society can make it very difficult for them to do so. In practice, this usually results in total dependence on their employer and very little bargaining power. This makes seasonal workers particularly vulnerable to exploitation.³¹

In all countries, a significant part of agricultural labour needs are met by workers from Eastern EU countries, such as Romania or Bulgaria, and non-EU migrants holding residence permits.³² However, holding such permits does not guarantee less exploitation.³³ In the Italian province of Ragusa, for example, Romanian workers have been reported to work up to 12 hours for lower wages than irregular African counterparts.³⁴ Also in Italy, the decline in the percentage of irregular workers in agriculture has not been followed by a measurable improvement in living and working conditions.³⁵

Although full accession to the EU has expanded the opportunities available for some workers from Eastern European countries to access agricultural work in more economically developed EU countries,³⁶ the risk factors for exploitation can affect all migrants equally. These include the language barrier³⁷ and a lack of knowledge of local labour legislation, with the resulting lack of understanding of the contracts they sign.³⁸

These channels, however, have proved insufficient to meet the sector's needs.³⁹ Refugees and asylum seekers also work in Italy's fields,⁴⁰ and *'often experience extremely precarious working and living conditions'*.⁴¹ There are also migrants on student visas working seasonally in agriculture in Germany and Sweden.⁴² In Greece, since 2016, agricultural employers in seasonal farming areas have been granted special permission to regularly hire irregular migrants, refugees and asylum seekers for periods of up to six months.⁴³

When these 'spontaneous' labour-related migratory movements are insufficient to cover the sector's needs, mechanisms are implemented to import labour to agricultural enclaves, such as using posted workers or recruiting workers in their country of origin.

2.1.2 Hiring migrants in their country of origin

Posted workers are migrants officially employed in one EU Member State who are sent to work on farms in another Member State under a specific EU legal framework. The contracts are registered in the origin country, allowing contributions to its social security systems. Labour costs are typically lower under this arrangement, and the agricultural employer only has a contract with the temporary work agency, not directly with the workers themselves. [see Section 2.4.4].⁴⁴

This type of agreements sometimes makes it possible for the employer in the destination country to avoid the wage levels, social protection and other rights

recognized in the country the worker is actually working in.⁴⁵ A prominent case is the wild berry sector in Sweden (and, to a lesser extent, Finland), which is built on the availability of posted workers from Thailand.⁴⁶ Farms in the Netherlands operate a similar system with posted workers from Central and Eastern Europe.⁴⁷

Under the recruitment-at-origin model, migrant farmworkers are also hired directly in their home countries. However, the employment relationship is directly with the employers in the destination country. This transnational recruitment is carried out through an institutional framework usually based on bilateral agreements between the two states.⁴⁸ The aim is to access cheap and flexible labour during the harvest season without having to manage the presence of migrants in the territory for the rest of the year – which is why this model is adapted to the needs of seasonal production The programme in Huelva brings 15.000-20,000 labourers each year, making a substantial percentage of the enclave's total workforce. It recruits almost exclusively workers who are:

- women;
- Moroccan;
- from rural areas;
- married, divorced, or widowed;
- young; and, above all,
- with dependent children at home.⁵⁰

enclaves.⁴⁹ It is widely applied in the USA and Canada. In Europe, this model is mostly limited to Spain and, in recent years, almost entirely to the Huelva enclave.

The reason for the latter is that employers have noted how women with caring responsibilities are most likely to return to Morocco when told to. The children under their care are dependent on the made working on the Spanish farms, so they are considered less likely to put this at risk.⁵¹

It is an institutional framework of disciplinary intent: it seeks to create a workforce with no bargaining power according to the ideal of an obedient and submissive working woman.⁵² In exchange, during their stay in Huelva, these women have guaranteed minimum wages and, to some extent, job security, which other groups of migrants lack.⁵³ However, there are also many documented cases of violation of contractual terms by Spanish employers.⁵⁴ Numerous organizations, including Spain's largest trade union, Comisiones Obreras, ⁵⁵ have denounced the discriminatory nature of the Huelva recruitment-at-origin programme's selection criteria.⁵⁶

Using gender and/or national origin 'criteria' based on cultural/racial/ethnic bias and preconceptions to select migrant farmworkers seems to be relatively common in Europe.⁵⁷ For example, sub-Saharan workers are valued more in Sicily and Basilicata based on stereotypes that they are 'strong and fast';⁵⁸ in Sweden, people from Thailand are preferred to pick wild berries for their supposed 'entrepreneurial spirit',⁵⁹ or for being 'industrious, reliable, ignorant, and good workers' or even 'short and slender'.⁶⁰ Regarding gender, in Lleida, Spain, men do most of the picking work in the fields, and women do most of the packing in the plants based on the gendered preconception that the former are supposedly stronger and the latter more careful.⁶¹

Table 1: Summary table of available EU estimates of seasonal workers inthe agricultural sector, 2021

	EU (residents and non-residents)	POSTED	NON-EU	TOTAL
Austria	3,000-5,000	565	10,000	13,565-15,565
Belgium	15,000-20,000	234	0	15,234-20,234
Bulgaria	200,000	8	120	200,128
Croatia	14,190	25	430	14,645
Cyprus	[-]	0	211	>211
Czechia	10,000	200	2,276	12,476
Denmark	[-]	226	[-]	>226
Estonia	[-]	5	3,121	>3,126
Finland	[-]	138	19,342	>19,480
France	259,000	545	11,138	270,683
Germany	272,000	2,718	(-)	>274,718
Greece	[-]	3	37,500	>37,503
Hungary	12,000	37	24,000	36,037
Ireland	1,500	5	(-)	>1,505
Italy	690,996	249	169,888	861,133
Latvia	3,259	6	271	3,536
Lithuania	856	4	144	1,004
Luxembourg	[-]	22	0	>22
Malta	25	4	10	29
Netherlands	32,571-125,000	2,174	0	34,745-127,174
Poland	5,200	108	110,000	115,308
Portugal	29,949	7	401	30,357
Romania	[-]	16	[-]	>16
Slovenia	800-1,000	13	638	1,451-1,651
Slovakia	5,000-8,000	47	175	5,222-8,222
Spain	310,145-429,000	226	20,710	331,081-449,936
Sweden	4,100	62	11,900	16,062
TOTAL	>1,869,591-2,091,075	7,647	>422,275	>2,299,513-2,520,997

(-) not quantifiable

Source: European Economic and Social Committee, 2023, Table 5, p. 19. Source includes information on the original source of each statistic. https://www.eesc.europa.eu/en/our-work/publications-other-work/publications/collecting-data-situation-social-protection-seasonal-workers-agriculture-and-food-sectorseu-member-states-after-covid#downloads

2.2 WAGES

The agricultural work that migrants take on is always at the lower end of local wage scales.⁶² Some experts have argued that structural factors such as 'the precarious and vulnerable citizenship status of migrant workers' or 'the formation of a stratified or ethnically segmented "reserve army"'' *might have facilitated this.*⁶³ Cases are documented in the Netherlands, Italy, Greece, Sweden, Spain, Germany, France and Poland in which wages were paid below the legal minimum wage.⁶⁴ In Germany, the minimum wage did not apply to migrant seasonal farmworkers until 2018.65 Problems with compliance since then have led to the establishment of a special unit of the German Customs Authority in charge of enforcement. However, this unit is under-resourced and underperforming.66

As a striking example, there was a case documented in hops fields in Bavaria, Germany, during the peak of the pandemic, where employers paid German workers 11-13€ per hour for the same tasks for which Eastern European seasonal workers were paid at most 10€, often less.⁶⁷ Similarly, in the Netherlands, migrant agricultural workers are paid approximately 10€ per hour, half of what non-migrant employees earn.⁶⁸



Harvesting asparagus is hard physical labour. Photo: Patrique Degen/Initiative Faire Landarbeit.

Sometimes, wages are even stratified by nationality between migrants.⁶⁹ Deliberate gender differentiation in wages is also documented:

- In Huelva, almost half of women report receiving lower wages than men;⁷⁰ while
- In Italy, women can earn up to 30% less than men.⁷¹

Migrants also face delayed payments, the denial of payment,⁷² or unpaid overtime.⁷³ Such cases are reported across Europe, notably for Central and Eastern European migrants in the Netherlands, where workers often suffer such abuses, but do not protest due to the risk of being fired if they do.⁷⁴

Another frequent tactic for underpaying migrants mentioned in the literature is to deduct the cost of basic needs such as accommodation, food provided during work and/or mandatory protective equipment from wages, often at inflated prices and usually without warning.⁷⁵ One case was told of a Romanian migrant in Germany who was charged for health coverage that turned out not to exist and when he had an accident at work, the company wanted

him to pay the costs out of pocket.⁷⁶

Charging migrant farmworkers in Germany up to €300 per month for a bed in a shared room seems to be common practice.⁷⁷ Refugees and asylum seekers in Italy are often paid less than other workers under the pretext that, as they reside in reception centres, they do not need to pay for accommodation.⁷⁸

A different version of this consists of selling work contracts to irregular migrants for hundreds or thousands of euros, or even to give them in exchange for free work in the farms. As the migrants need contracts to regularize their status, they often have no choice but to accept such agreements.⁷⁹

Deliberate gender differentiation in wages is also documented:

- In Huelva, almost half of women report receiving lower wages than men; while
- In Italy, women can earn up to 30% less than men.

Migrants also face delayed payments, the denial of payment, or unpaid overtime.

2.3 PRECARIOUS AND UNSTABLE WORK

Especially for those working with seasonal crops, migrant farmworkers suffer from instability and unpredictability alternating between times of excessive work and no work (and thus no pay) in the same season.⁸⁰ Generally, when there is overwork, employers tend to rely on irregular migrants to supplement the workforce. In Huelva, (mostly) sub-Saharan irregular migrants are used as a 'reserve army' available for moments of temporary need for extra labour.⁸¹ Thus, their work is extremely precarious.⁸²

The precariousness and insecurity of jobs, the brevity of contracts and the ease with which they can be lost is a common feature of seasonal work in European agriculture.⁸³ In Germany, for example, migrant seasonal workers can be dismissed with one day's notice.⁸⁴ Migrants are at risk of losing their jobs due to bad weather or falling ill.⁸⁵ Cases have also been documented in which employers force migrants to perform tasks that are not theirs, such as cleaning the company's offices, without a pay increase.⁸⁶

Many migrants are working informally in agriculture across Europe. According to calculations from the International Labour Organization, informal employment in the EU

agriculture could affect as many as 61.2% of workers.⁸⁷ For example, the Italian Ministry of Labour estimated that, in 2018, between 24.4% and 34.4% regularised migrants were working without a formal contract.⁸⁸ In Germany, a large proportion of migrant farmworkers are hired verbally, and those who sign contracts may not understand the content nor receive a copy.⁸⁹

Sometimes, formal contracts define fewer hours than the real amount worked, with the rest being paid informally,⁹⁰ or fewer days being declared by employers to the government.⁹¹ These are different versions of 'grey work', i.e., work that meets the minimum requirements of regularity (existence of a contract, regularized residence, etc.) but keeps the bulk of the work done underground.⁹² According to the literature, such grey work is especially prevalent in Italy.

For example, the Italian Ministry of Labour estimated that, in 2018, between 24.4% and 34.4% regularised migrants were working without a formal contract.

It is present in Germany too: for example, seasonal work contracts covering less than 70 days are exempt from social security contributions from employees, and employers sometimes abuse this exception by using it for migrant farmworkers who are working for more than 70 days.⁹³

Very long working days have also been documented:⁹⁴ up to 10,⁹⁵12,⁹⁶ 14⁹⁷ or even over 15-hour days.⁹⁸ Thai wild berry pickers in Sweden work 12–19 hours for six days a week,



A migrant seasonal farmworker's work boots. Photo: Pablo Tosco/Oxfam Intermon.

the most extreme case identified in the reviewed literature.⁹⁹ In cases where there is a contract regulating the length of the working day, cases of overtime work have been reported,¹⁰⁰ as well as situations in which migrant workers have had their rest days or breaks denied.¹⁰¹ However, this is not to say that these situations are the norm. In Trento, Italy, the average working day is 6–7 hours, with peaks of 8–9 at busy times.¹⁰²

Child labour is also an issue in some countries. For example, some Ukrainian adults go to Poland on seasonal work permits, and bring children aged 12–14 so they can work in the fields too. These children come on 90-day tourist visas, but Polish employers use them as undeclared workers.¹⁰³

Ukrainian farmworkers in Poland seem to seek to work outside agriculture, in sectors such as construction, domestic work and the hotel and catering industry.¹⁰⁴ Albanian farmworkers in Greece, too, tend to seek promotion within the agro-industry or in other sectors, given the harsh conditions and limited pay for farm labourers.¹⁰⁵ This is, of course, much easier for regularized migrants who do not have to live on the margins of society.¹⁰⁶

2.4 STRUCTURAL DETERMINANTS OF WORKING CONDITIONS

2.4.1 Piecework vs hourly pay

Working and wage conditions vary according to the remuneration system: piecework (i.e., payment by weight) implies less guarantee of a minimum income.¹⁰⁷ However, some migrants prefer this system precisely because it enables them, through self-exploitation, to maximize the economic return from their work in the fields.¹⁰⁸ This logic derives, in any case, from disciplining the migrant workforce by encouraging competition that causes workers to impose harsh working conditions on themselves.¹⁰⁹

Several reports have documented how, in Spain, some employers impose minimum levels for piecework that, if not reached, lead to dismissal.¹¹⁰ Similarly, it has been reported that, in Germany, sometimes failure to meet unrealistic harvest quotas results in deprivation of work and wages.¹¹¹

2.4.2 Value chains

The structuring of the value chain also influences working conditions. When retailers impose just-in-time systems for fresh produce, there are unforeseen peaks of work that are filled by hiring extra workers for very short periods under precarious conditions,¹¹² and/or by increasing the exploitation of those already employed.¹¹³ Supermarkets identify how their actions, specifically last-minute orders, have a negative impact on the human rights of workers, including necessitating workers to put in longer and possibly excessive hours with little warning, escalating time pressures,

and heightening the likelihood of injuries along with other occupational health and safety (OHS) concerns. $^{\rm 114}$

2.4.3 National circuits

Another aspect of the sector's labour instability concerns the difficulty in finding a stable place to live, even for migrants permanently residing in Europe. While some migrants manage to work and live in one place permanently, a significant proportion need to spend the year moving between different seasonal enclaves. For example, migrants will move to pick vegetables in southern Italy in summer, grapes in the north in autumn, and oranges back in the south in winter.¹¹⁵

Similar circuits exist in Spain, with thousands of (mostly irregular) migrants moving from one seasonal enclave to another throughout the year: from Lleida to Logroño, Valencia, Jaén and Huelva.¹¹⁶ Even in a permanent production enclave such as Almeria, up to 35% of migrant farmworkers work on 3–6 month contracts; only 35–40% of them are employed on an indefinite basis.¹¹⁷ Similar intermittent labour dynamics have been reported in Murcia, another permanent production enclave in Spain.¹¹⁸

2.4.4 Intermediaries

Subcontracting and intermediation systems can generate exploitative dynamics, such as those created by legal recruitment agencies¹¹⁹ operating throughout Europe, or by semi-legal landless cooperatives and informal mafia-like systems, such as the *caporalato in Italy*.¹²⁰ The latter are informal intermediaries who act as recruiters on behalf of local producers and arbitrarily decide who can join their teams. They exploit the vulnerable socioeconomic status of workers and profit illegally by deducting directly from their daily wages. They recruit newly arrived migrants who are desperate to find work to accept extremely low wages for very long working hours, with documented cases of wages of $37 \notin$ for 10-hour days – $3.7 \notin$ an hour.¹²¹

Since 2016, law n.199/2016 prohibited the *caporalato intermediation system in Italy and* set out prosecution for farmers who use it. Between 2020 and 2022 there was even a government plan to tackle this system. However no significant impact has been noted and the practice remains widespread.¹²²

Practices comparable to that of the *caporali are carried out by legal intermediary companies in Italy*¹²³ and other countries.¹²⁴ In the Netherlands, for example, employers recruit through employment agencies because, among other things, this allows them to bypass collective bargaining agreements in the sector and pay lower wages, including using zero-hour contracts.¹²⁵ When workers have been employed for so long that they should legally start receiving more seniority pay, some agencies, especially unregistered ones, dismiss them and the employer hires them again through another agency.¹²⁶ These agencies take a cut of wages, including by deducting the cost of services (e.g. accommodation, transport, etc.) from their wages.

In the Thailand–Sweden labour circuit for the wild berry industry, the work agencies take such a large portion of workers' incomes that many workers return to Thailand heavily indebted. The Swedish authorities have been trying to alleviate this lack of protection for deployed Thai workers by:

- requiring employers to demonstrate sufficient solvency to pay wages;
- legally allowing them a minimum wage by decreeing that migrant workers are covered by a Swedish trade union and a pre-existing collective agreement in another sector ;¹²⁷ and
- recognizing migrant workers' right to financial compensation for various eventualities that could leave them without a sufficient income.¹²⁸

However, transnational brokering makes the situation difficult to monitor, and both Swedish and Thai companies find loopholes to continue exploiting workers.¹²⁹

There are documented cases, such as among Bulgarian farmworkers in France,¹³⁰ where migrant farmworkers take on intermediary positions between employers and their coworkers. This role of foreperson (often, but not always, of the same nationality) is common in many parts of Europe.¹³¹ Long-term workers who have become employers' confidants often play a crucial role in controlling and exploiting the migrant workforce.¹³²

3 LIVING CONDITIONS

3.1 HOUSING

Economic deprivation limits Europe's migrant farmworkers' accommodation options. This leads to a huge number of migrant workers living in overcrowded housing that lacks basic services. Some are also made homeless.¹³³ Some specific groups experience particular conditions, such as migrant farmworkers with refugee status in Italy who sleep in reception centres.¹³⁴

Again, in Italy, the *caporali* (see **Section 2.4.4**) sometimes provide accommodation for their workers as additional leverage to extract income and increase their



A migrant farmworker looking through the only light entry point of his shack. Photo: Pablo Tosco/Oxfam Intermon.

control.¹³⁵ Similar practices have been identified by legal intermediary companies in other countries, for example by German employment agencies recruiting Romanian farmworkers.¹³⁶

In Loudun, France, various facilities, from holiday campsites to rural houses, have been converted into accommodation for Bulgarian farmworkers.¹³⁷ The regional government of Andalusia, Spain has built public shelters for seasonal olive pickers in Jaen.¹³⁸ There are other interventions documented in the literature by public institutions to try and guarantee access to housing.¹³⁹

However, among this enormous diversity of situations, the two most common are: employer-provided in-farm accommodation and self-built slums.

3.1.1 In-farm accommodation

The possibility of accessing affordable in-farm housing has been identified as one of the attractions of European agriculture for migrant farmworkers.¹⁴⁰ It makes it easier to maximize the money earned, which for many is a priority. Often the space provided consists of a container of a few square metres, equipped with bunk beds for a handful of individuals, with a kitchen and bathroom shared by several containers.¹⁴¹ This model is documented in all nine countries analysed.¹⁴²



In-farm accommodation: many farms lock their gates to control who enters and leaves. Photo: Pablo Tosco/Oxfam Intermon.

However, it is not without its drawbacks and criticisms. Among other issues, overcrowding and the *'limited provision of basic infrastructure' beyond a roof and a bed have been highlighted*.¹⁴³ For example, one source spoke of Ukrainian farmworkers in Poland who lacked heating equipment in their container and had to bring in an iron stove to deal with the cold.¹⁴⁴

In France, although there are regulations that oblige minimum quality standards in such types of accommodation, many employers outsource their management to real estate agencies, circumventing such regulations and thus providing much cheaper (and often substandard) housing.¹⁴⁵ Many cases are documented in Germany where, far from the idea of affordable accommodation, workers were charged several hundred euros each for a bed in overcrowded facilities.¹⁴⁶

The isolation these situations produce has also been pointed out. It is difficult for workers to get to know the local language and society, establish ties beyond coworkers and employers, and access services.¹⁴⁷ This allows greater control and dependence on the employer and reduces workers' bargaining power.

In general, an important factor that facilitates exploitation in the agriculture sector is the difficulty for the authorities to control or monitor employer–labour relations in a sector where the activity is dispersed across countless isolated farms over huge tracts of land far from urban centres.¹⁴⁸ This is exacerbated when migrant farmworkers live and spend all their time on the same farms, thus becoming invisible to their host societies, and are dependent on their employers as their only source of food, water and shelter.¹⁴⁹

In other cases, despite similar conditions of isolation, some employers provide neither food nor transport to towns for shopping. This is the case for many of Huelva's women workers recruited from Morocco, who spend hours of their rest time walking kilometres to and from towns just to buy food and basic products.¹⁵⁰

Other studies have found that women workers in Huelva also suffer abusive control by the accommodation supervisors, including the possibility of sexual blackmail,¹⁵¹ lack of privacy and inadequate accommodation space.¹⁵² In France, although there are regulations that oblige minimum quality standards in such types of accommodation, many employers outsource their management to real estate agencies, circumventing such regulations and thus providing much cheaper (and often substandard) housing.

3.1.2 Makeshift slums

The other housing model that generates concern in the literature reviewed is makeshift slums. These are agglomerations of self-built substandard housing made from whatever materials workers can get hold of (e.g., plastic, pallets, cardboard, car wheel rims, etc.) located on the outskirts of towns with agricultural production, and/or in the vicinity of the farms where they work.¹⁵³ This problem seems most prevalent in the Mediterranean countries of Spain, Italy and Greece.¹⁵⁴ In the last two, other settlements have been documented based on tents instead of shacks.¹⁵⁵ In Sweden, Spain, Italy and Greece, migrant farmworkers have been reported to take up residence in overcrowded, old, abandoned buildings in rural areas.¹⁵⁶

In these different types of makeshift substandard housing, every aspect of daily life becomes precarious, as exemplified by the repeated fires in shantytowns in Huelva, Spain, in which migrants lose all their possessions.¹⁵⁷ The vulnerability is deepened by the fact that local authorities often react to such fires by not allowing migrants to rebuild their burned shacks, forcing them to start new settlements in different locations.¹⁵⁸ State-sponsored demolitions have also been reported in Italy.¹⁵⁹

But, in exchange, this model of housing also allows migrants to save as much money as possible from their time working in the fields,¹⁶⁰ and retain more personal and collective autonomy than those living in the workplace.¹⁶¹ Nonetheless, migrants residing in slums and camps still live socially and geographically segregated from local societies.¹⁶² They also lack necessities such as drinking water, electricity, toilets, showers, waste collection, etc.¹⁶³ This situation of material deprivation for a vital workforce for European societies can reach points such as the one in Bari, Italy, in which migrant farmworkers slept in cattle stables and drank the unsanitary water meant for the animals.¹⁶⁴

As in that example, there is a risk of the spread of disease.¹⁶⁵ Additional problems faced specifically by women include the risk of arson in retaliation for not agreeing to sexual demands, which endangers their safety, physical integrity and psycho-emotional well-being.¹⁶⁶



A migrant farmworker returning to his shack after a day in the fields. Photo: Pablo Tosco/Oxfam Intermon.

Cases have been documented in both Spain and Italy in which municipal authorities have denied migrants living in such spaces the possibility to register as residents, even if residence laws explicitly grant them the right.¹⁶⁷ This is a serious impediment to regularizing their status. Several sources make an important point: living in unsanitary, over-crowded shantytowns or camps is not always due to poverty. Many cases have been found, in places such as Huelva or Lleida (both in Spain), of African workers being denied housing based on racial grounds.¹⁶⁸

In addition, the progressive institutionalization of tent camps in Italy through the intervention of NGOs and public institutions has seen the introduction of paternalistic control over workers' lives, similar to those observed in in-farm accommodations.¹⁶⁹ In recent years, Italian public institutions appear to have adopted a strategy of installing refugee camp-like facilities for foreign farmworkers during harvesting season near fields.¹⁷⁰ Such a strategy takes part of a broader tendency of the Italian State toward defining and managing migrant agricultural workers' access to basic rights as a humanitarian problem, rather than a labour issue.¹⁷¹

3.2 TRANSPORTATION

Transportation, although relevant to migrant farmworkers' lives, receives little attention in the reviewed literature. Discussion is limited in the non-academic literature and marginal in the academic one. Four main transportation issues could be identified in the non-academic texts:

- Remoteness of farms;
- Cost of transport;
- Inadequate vehicles for workers on farms; and
- Inadequate public transport.

3.2.1 Remoteness of farms

The most discussed problem is the remoteness of the places where migrant farmworkers work and live. In Spain, the remote location of accommodation and shantytowns makes it difficult to access essential goods, as well as daily, medical, legal and social services.¹⁷² Thus, migrants are dependent on third parties – usually their employers or intermediaries – for transport because most do not own vehicles. Women rarely have access even to alternative means of transport such as bicycles, increasing their dependency and vulnerability.¹⁷³ They sometimes resort to hitchhiking or informal taxis in moments of need.¹⁷⁴

In France, where farms are usually located in rural areas far from urban centres, workers who do not live on the farm (see **Section 3.1.1**) encounter significant problems in their daily commute.¹⁷⁵ There are documented cases in Italy of workers enduring long daily commutes that are not considered part of their working hours.¹⁷⁶ Some migrant labourers in Murcia, Spain, use the services of *furgoneteros, informal drivers who charge significant money for a ride to farms in crowded vans.*¹⁷⁷ Informal taxi drivers are reported to also play a role in Italy.¹⁷⁸ In Poland, Ukrainian labourers sometimes find Ukrainian minibus drivers through migrant networks to assist with travelling to work or into towns.¹⁷⁹

The academic literature mentions that long commutes lead to migrant labourers in Italy or Poland facing difficulties in finding time to arrange shopping trips.¹⁸⁰

The non-academic texts analysed mention that the cost of transport is a financial stress factor for migrant farmworkers, even for those living on farms. In Murcia, Spain, and Italy transport costs are often deducted from workers' wages.¹⁸¹ In the latter, the cost is approximately €5 per day.¹⁸² In Sweden, the standard practice of employers covering workers' transport costs has on occasion been compromised when collective agreements that improve migrants' working conditions have been achieved, as a strategy of compensation and/or retaliation by employers.¹⁸³

Additionally, international travel arranged by intermediaries can be expensive. For example, research about Thai wild berry pickers in Sweden has revealed the extent to which transportation from Thailand to Sweden can be too expensive for them. Some Thai agencies charge each worker over €2000 for transport to Sweden, pushing them into debt.¹⁸⁴ Similar dynamics for ethnic Roma Bulgarian farm labourers travelling to Sweden seem to be in place.¹⁸⁵

3.2.2 Inadequate vehicles

Inadequate or dangerous vehicles are used to transport migrant labourers to their workplaces in a number of locations.¹⁸⁶ For example, a transport-related accident was



Migrant farmworkers carrying bags of great weight and size due to the lack of access to transportation. Photo: Pablo Tosco/Oxfam Intermon.

reported in Murcia, Spain, in which five Moroccan labourers died.¹⁸⁷ The situation in Italy is aggravated by the intervention of the *caporali* (see **Section 2.4.4**), who informally and often dangerously manage transport arrangements, using overloaded vehicles, which has resulted in fatal accidents.¹⁸⁸

Thai berry pickers in Sweden commute in and out of the forests in minivans driven by informal intermediaries, often in groups of seven or eight exceeding the intended capacity of such vehicles.¹⁸⁹

In Germany, transport for migrant workers during the COVID-19 pandemic (see **Chapter 5**) did not comply with hygiene measures and social distancing, putting workers' health at risk.¹⁹⁰ Academic texts similarly point to the incidence of deadly accidents and to the role of the *caporali in managing transportation in the Italian case*¹⁹¹, or to the German employers' disregard for COVID-19 precautions in vehicles.¹⁹²

3.2.3 Inadequate public transport

Finally, the non-existence or inadequacy of public transport is another problem. In Spain¹⁹³ and Greece,¹⁹⁴ reports point to a lack of public transport routes that adequately connect settlements or farms with nearby cities or towns. This severely limits their accessibility and reinforces the invisibility and exclusion of these communities. Local governments in Spain are criticized in particular for failing to provide accessible public transport routes to workers' settlements.¹⁹⁵ This topic was absent from the reviewed academic literature.

3.3 CONFLICT, VIOLENCE AND NON-ECONOMIC PATTERNS OF INEQUALITY

Abusive and violent behaviour towards migrant farmworkers by their employers are documented in a number of sources. For example, in some farms in Italy and Spain, workers who pick the fewest fruit boxes are punished with days without work or pay.¹⁹⁶ Cases have been documented in France,¹⁹⁷ Italy¹⁹⁸ and Spain¹⁹⁹ of workers being forced to remain silent, and receiving threats, verbal violence, humiliation, insults and racist abuse. Cases are also reported in Italy where such intimidating practices are deployed not to pay workers and make them afraid to complain.²⁰⁰

In Spain, the Netherlands and Germany, there are documented cases in which intimidation is used through the threat or imposition of arbitrary fines that significantly cut wages.²⁰¹ Another recurring practice is the withholding of migrants' identity documents, creating absolute dependency on the employer.²⁰² Intimidation and forcing staff to remain silent about workplace abuses can be more subtle or indirect. In these cases, migrant farmworkers keep quiet about abuse and unfair situations because they know of others who complained about something and were blacklisted, and then had serious problems finding work in the area.²⁰³

Cases have been documented in France, Italy and Spain of workers being forced to remain silent, and receiving threats, verbal violence, humiliation, insults and racist abuse. Cases are also reported in Italy where such intimidating practices are deployed not to pay workers and make them afraid to complain.

In Spain, the Netherlands and Germany, there are documented cases in which intimidation is used through the threat or imposition of arbitrary fines that significantly cut wages. All of these elements contribute to a climate of fear with power imbalances marked by the implicit and explicit threats directed at those who consider making complaints, as described by several reports in Spain or the Netherlands.²⁰⁴ In Italy, cases of violence and coercion have reached the point where threats of weapons have been made and the murder of a migrant trade unionist has occurred.²⁰⁵

3.3.1 Racial violence

It was previously discussed how there have been several documented cases in which migrant farmworkers in Spain were denied rental apartments in local towns based on racial prejudices (see **Section 3.1.2**). Such hostility is not limited to housing; for example, migrants in Greece have reported growing racism from local people and the authorities since, at least, the start of the 2007 financial crisis.²⁰⁶

This problem is neither limited to Greece nor to recent times. Several studies have documented how in both Spain and Italy there is a long history of racist attitudes, including direct physical violence, against African migrant farmworkers.²⁰⁷ Such xenophobic hostility and violence can be traced back to the very moment labour migration began to make an appearance in the agricultural enclaves of both countries, with the murder of Jerry Masslo, a South African farmworker in Italy in 1989.²⁰⁸



A migrant seasonal farmworker's hands after a day's work in the fields. Photo: Pablo Tosco/Oxfam Intermon.

3.3.2 Gender-based violence

Apart from the gender differentiation in payments (see **Section 2.2**), other gender inequalities and/or women-specific problems are mentioned in the reviewed literature. For example, in the Netherlands, some migrant women with children are unable to take leave if their child is sick due to fear of reprisals.²⁰⁹ In France, migrant women have less autonomy, recognition and lower wages than their male counterparts.

The form of gender inequality most frequently discussed in the literature is sexual violence, harassment and abuse.²¹⁰ A paradigmatic case is that of female farmworkers recruited in Morocco to work in Huelva, Spain. Their systematic isolation and defencelessness make it difficult for their cases to come to light. Even so, in 2014 a judge found five employers in Huelva guilty of sexual abuse (among other offences) against a large group of Moroccan seasonal workers.²¹¹

After that milestone, other similar cases have been uncovered occasionally in the area.²¹² The perpetrators are Spanish employers, as well as *manijeros (foremen), who are often Moroccans themselves or migrants of other origins.*²¹³ Reports in the German press revealed that, in the towns of Moguer and Palos in Huelva, a large number of Moroccan and Eastern European seasonal workers undergo abortions every year, following rapes in the fields.²¹⁴

Other reports mention Moroccan women in both Huelva and Almería, Spain, being coerced into human trafficking for sexual exploitation, or living with single farmworkers who sexually abuse them in exchange for supposed protection from other men.

Other instances of sexual violence against female migrant workers have been reported in Campania and Sicily in Italy.²¹⁵

3.3.3 Resistance

Even in the face of oppression, there have been numerous cases of conflict and resistance by migrants in defence of their rights: demanding decent accommodation, better wages and respect for their human rights.²¹⁶ For example, in Huelva, Spain, since the 1990s to the COVID-19 pandemic in the early 2020s, there have been examples of movements self-organized by irregular African workers demanding regularization and basic social rights.²¹⁷

Sometimes, too, the national trade unions of destination countries have given support and/or advice to migrant farmworkers,²¹⁸ although it is rare that they manage to establish the necessary links to exercise effective representation.²¹⁹ In Huelva where there is a rich but intermittent history of self-organized struggles by African farmworkers, institutionalized union presence is reported to be almost non-existent in the region, leaving workers with limited knowledge of their rights and vulnerable to labour injustices.²²⁰ Comparable situations of either absent or weak union presence for migrant agricultural labour have been noted in Italy, Poland and Greece.²²¹

Among the cases of struggle by migrant farmworkers reported in the literature, a strike by Bangladeshi workers in Manolada, Greece, in 2013 in response to the denial of pay stands out for the level of violence used. The company responded by opening fire on the protesters, severely injuring 30 people. The European Court of Human Rights ruled against Greece for allowing forced labour conditions.²²² That type of reaction by employers is clearly exceptional in the reviewed literature; it appears to be much more frequent that they respond with more subtle strategies. In some cases, workers of a certain national origin organize and achieve improvements, but in the medium term, their employers respond by replacing them with a new, more vulnerable and/or less demanding migrant group.²²³ As mentioned in **Section 3.2.2**, when through collective agreement, migrants were able to win better conditions, employers retaliated by charging for transportation. This is reported to have had the knock-on effect of causing migrant farmworkers to develop a more suspicious attitude towards unions.²²⁴



Seasonal workers on a strawberry farm in Germany. Photo: Patrique Degen/Initiative Faire Landarbeit.

4 HEALTH AND SAFETY

The literature on health hazards and accidents affecting migrant workers in agriculture is scarce. Only three articles dedicated to this issue were found: one on pictorials at work in Italy,²²⁵ one on the perception of heat stress at work in Italy,²²⁶ and a review covering several countries that tended not to specify which it is discussing at each point.²²⁷ Nonetheless, occupational safety and health (OSH) were discussed in other studies, including those covering the COVID-19 pandemic (see **Chapter 6 for more**).

4.1 OCCUPATIONAL ACCIDENTS

Some studies indicated that migrant workers are more exposed to occupational accidents than workers from the host country.²²⁸ For example, in Italy, the accident rate in a year for farmworkers of migrant origin was 3.3%, compared to 2.8% for Italian workers.²²⁹ The authors of this report highlight migrants' need for greater understanding of workplace illustrations, with only 16% of respondents in some groups understanding images shown to them by the researchers.²³⁰ The International Organization for Standardization and American National Standards Institute recommend standards of 85%.

Probably, the language and the formats used to communicate the necessary safety measures influences this lack of understanding. Indeed, there is speculation that the death of two Ukrainian workers at a farm in Poland in 2019 is directly linked to their lack of knowledge of safety pictorials.²³¹

Accidents such as falls, cuts, animal bites and injuries caused by machinery misuse are frequent in countries such as Spain and Italy,²³² but they remain undetected due to migrants' fear of losing their jobs or being reprimanded, which makes it difficult to measure their actual incidence. Minor injuries are considered a normal part of the job, and are thus left untreated or self-medicated, with potential risks to workers' health.²³³ In the Netherlands²³⁴ and Spain,²³⁵ the fear of losing one's job means that migrant workers tend not to take medical leave. This fear is particularly strong for irregular workers in Spain²³⁶ and migrants working the circuits of Sweden.²³⁷

Heat stress is a major risk for agricultural workers in Europe. However, in Italy for example, migrants are only informed of how to behave during heatwaves through written and oral communication that they may not have understood, whereas specific courses are organized for Italian staff.²³⁸ As the authors of this research suggest, it would be advisable to arrange specific training adapted to workers' language and culture since, for example, measures to be adopted for workers who follow Ramadan will be different from others.²³⁹

The literature points to the same problem in Poland and Germany, where the need for translators combined with the high turnover of workers leads to a lack of interest on the part of companies in providing safety training to their workforce.²⁴⁰ One German employer did not even provide workers with water.²⁴¹ Eleazar Blandón, a Nicaraguan seasonal worker in Murcia, Spain, died after working 11 hours in 44°C heat without being provided with water.²⁴²

Heat stress is not only related to extreme heat (primarily reported in the literature), but also extreme cold, which is a significant problem faced by migrants working in northern Italy,²⁴³ as well as Germany.²⁴⁴

Migrant workers were frequently exposed to harmful phytosanitary products without necessary protective equipment, medical controls²⁴⁵ or access to a compulsory doctor.²⁴⁶ Several studies indicate the presence of these problems in Italy, Spain, Greece and Sweden.²⁴⁷

The most extreme cases reported in the literature are a group of 20 workers who were poisoned by phytosanitary products in Italy;²⁴⁸ and a group of Polish workers who suffered severe burns in the Netherlands.²⁴⁹

Italian trade unions denounced the general lack of compliance with safety protocols in the country's agricultural companies after receiving numerous complaints, especially from workers in packaging factories, about the lack of masks and gloves for workers.²⁵⁰ However, in Germany, some employers have been reported to deduct the cost of the equipment from their workers' wages.²⁵¹ In addition, quality and sustainability certificates for agricultural producers, like Global Gap among others, have a notable influence, focusing more on the risk of workers contaminating products than on how the production process can affect the staff, leading to some companies prohibiting the use of gloves (exposing workers to frequent damages to their hands) in order to be certified as healthy products.²⁵²

For EFFAT, the high exposure of migrants to workplace hazards does not only derive from their lack of understanding, but from a deliberate decision by employers to expose migrants to more dangerous situations than their counterparts from host countries.²⁵³

For instance, in Poland, the law directly excludes harvest helpers from most occupational health and safety regulations, leaving it up to companies to decide the level of protection they want to give their workers. In addition, Poland lacks specific institutions to monitor and ensure OSH in the agricultural sector.²⁵⁴

4.2 WORKERS' HEALTH

A 2021 study of the existing evidence on the health of migrant farm workers in Italy²⁵⁵ compared the findings of a 2005 *Médecins Sans Frontières* study and a 2018 study conducted by MEDU. The former found that only 5.6% of workers were in good health. The latter found that 5–8.5% of those interviewed had psychosocial and psychosomatic problems, as well as excessive alcohol consumption. The latter has also been detected in Poland,²⁵⁶ where data otherwise tends to indicate a healthy migrant workforce.²⁵⁷ Other research²⁵⁸ reveals that lack of protective equipment can lead to musculoskeletal problems, heat stress and intoxication due to exposure to phytosanitary products.

Health problems raised in the literature include heat stroke and back pain,²⁵⁹ neck pain,²⁶⁰ headaches, dehydration, scratches, poorly healed wounds, allergies, sunburn and exhaustion.²⁶¹ Many of these can be exacerbated by working in greenhouses.²⁶²

In terms of mental health, anxiety, stress and depression are the main problems reported in the literature. These conditions can cause secondary pathologies such as insomnia.²⁶³

The literature also highlights how piecework encourages migrants to overwork (see

Section 2.4.1), exaggerating health problems, and thus ultimately reducing workers' income. This has been observed in Spain,²⁶⁴ Finland²⁶⁵ and Germany,²⁶⁶ revealing how common 'fatigue management' and the risks associated with it are left to workers' own discernment, without providing them with adequate training for it. This does not always have to do with deliberate laziness on the part of companies, but in some cases, as has been reported in France, this can be because employers do not know their responsibilities.²⁶⁷

The prevalence of malaria among migrant agricultural workers in Greece due to stagnant water sources in fields and around residential areas has been cited in the literature.

Other specific problems raised in the literature include:

• the prevalence of malaria among migrant agricultural workers in Greece due to stagnant water sources in fields and around residential areas;²⁶⁸



A migrant farmworker on crutches. Photo: Pablo Tosco/Oxfam Intermon.

- the health impacts of cheap and poor-quality food on migrant workers in Poland;²⁶⁹ and
- the consequences of temporary/circular migratory patterns (see Section 2.4.3), including exhaustion and difficulty accessing health and other social services.²⁷⁰

In addition to the above conditions, sometimes women are also exposed to sexual or psychological violence (see **Section 3.3.2**),²⁷¹ as has been identified in Ragusa, Italy.²⁷² The absence of breaks and the lack of sanitary facilities in some contexts also cause problems for women during menstruation.²⁷³

4.3 LONG-TERM CONSEQUENCES

The harm that migrant workers suffer at work can lead to long-term health problems. For example, sometimes, back pain or injuries can be lifelong.²⁷⁴ Their working and living conditions can lead to more severe illnesses such as respiratory and skin problems, or even cancer.²⁷⁵

As it requires longer-term monitoring of larger numbers of people, this is perhaps one of the least-studied dimensions in the literature. Moreover, in many enclaves, for example, in Spain²⁷⁶ or Finland,²⁷⁷ workers are exclusively temporary, which means that health services can deal with contingencies but do not carry out prolonged monitoring of migrants' health.

One of the few articles²⁷⁸ to have carried out an accurate medical screening of migrant agricultural workers focuses on an informal settlement in Apulia, Italy. It found that:

- 34% suffered from muscular pain and fatigue;
- 26.8% from headaches;
- 10% from coughs;
- 12% from hypertension (i.e., high blood pressure);
- 4% from tachycardia (i.e., high heart rate);
- 4% from hypoxaemia (i.e., low oxygen levels in the blood);
- 2% from diabetes; and
- 1% from HIV.

The authors claimed this was due to the harsh working conditions and migrants' prolonged residence in ghettos.²⁷⁹

These migrants tend to have better health than their local colleagues on arrival since they are generally younger.²⁸⁰ However, their working and living conditions (see **Chapter 2**) reverse this trend over the years. In addition, there are psychological impacts, such as the trauma of living under these conditions²⁸¹ and, in some cases, the dangerous migratory routes taken to reach the country of work.²⁸² In those enclaves where the majority of workers are women, verbal, sexual and disciplinary violence is also a source of long-term psychological harm.²⁸³ Moroccan seasonal women workers in Huelva, Spain, require a health certificate in order to be hired; however, many opt to hide illnesses or pregnancies for fear of not being considered able to work, despite the significant risks this entails.²⁸⁴

4.4 ACCESS TO HEALTH SERVICES

As various studies indicate,²⁸⁵ given the high mobility of this labour force, the long-term social and economic costs of their pathologies fall on the migrants themselves and their families – as well as probably their states of origin, to which a large proportion eventually return.²⁸⁶

As a result, migrants' use of health services in the countries in which they work is usually occasional. Access to information is a major problem: often they are unaware of their rights to healthcare as well as practical information, such as where clinics are located.²⁸⁷

The lack of a home address for those living in shantytowns or informal rural settlements (see **Section 3.1**)²⁸⁸ often means that migrants cannot be registered in health systems, and transport to health centres is complicated.²⁸⁹ To address this problem, sometimes NGOs or religious groups offer physical addresses to migrants – such as the diocese of San Severo in Apulia, Italy – or set up mobile clinics offering free healthcare, as in the case of INTERSOS or Doctors with Africa CUAMM in the ghettos of Apulia since 2015,²⁹⁰ or the Red Cross in some settlements in Spain.²⁹¹

In Huelva, Spain, migrants denounced some municipalities in the courts, demanding to be registered for healthcare despite living in ghettos.²⁹² While this right was finally guaranteed, numerous administrative hurdles still complicate its formal application.²⁹³ In Spain and Italy, migrants without registered addresses only have the right to go to an emergency room.²⁹⁴ Thus, in Italy, 60% of migrant farm workers lack access to public health services.²⁹⁵

The main problem for workers living on companies' farms (see **Section 3.1.1**) is asking employers to take them to a doctor, which means making visible illnesses or injuries that many want to hide. Sometimes, employers may refuse to take migrants to the health centre, as is reported for Moroccan women in Huelva who are sometimes forced to stay at home when they are ill.²⁹⁶

Language is another barrier to healthcare access reported in Italy, Spain, Greece and Finland, as health services often lack intercultural mediators or translators to enable migrant farm workers to report their ailments accurately.²⁹⁷ Many migrants also lack the means to make an appointment online, where this is required.²⁹⁸

As was stated in previous sections of this report, in Germany temporary workers with contracts of less than 70 days are excluded by law from access to social security and, therefore, cannot use the public health system (during the pandemic this was even expanded to up to 115 days contracts, then reduced to 102 days in 2021, and now it is back to 70 days). This de facto excludes most seasonal migrants.²⁹⁹ A direct effect of this measure is that some Romanian women working in the German countryside migrated with their medicines, knowing they would not receive medical care if needed.³⁰⁰ For these workers, going to the doctor comes at a very high cost, as visits are paid for; hospitalization in particular can be unaffordable for a labour force with such low pay and precarious conditions.³⁰¹

In Finland, Sweden, France and the Netherlands, migrant agricultural workers are formally guaranteed access to the national health services. However, those employed as 'posted workers' (see **Section 2.1.2**), such as the Thai wild berry pickers in the Nordic countries or Central and Eastern European migrants in France and the Netherlands, pay social insurance contributions in their countries of origin, and thus not only receive lower salaries, but also lose access to healthcare, because they are not listed as taxpayers in the countries in which they work.³⁰² To avoid dealing with a workforce without health coverage, some employers enrol their workers in private health services, the cost of which they deduct directly from their wages.³⁰³



Work gloves hanging on a washing line in migrant farmworker accommodation. Photo: Pablo Tosco/Oxfam Intermon.
5 THE IMPACT OF THE COVID-19 PANDEMIC

The declaration of migrant agricultural workers as 'essential' to authorize their mobility during the COVID-19 pandemic, including in the EU,³⁰⁴ at a time when it was heavily restricted for the general population put a spotlight on this group of people who sustain our societies.³⁰⁵

This social and political attention led to a proliferation of studies on the implications of the pandemic on migrant workers, ³⁰⁶ both monitoring developments in contexts with an established research tradition, such as Italy and Spain, and in under-researched contexts, such as Germany. As regards the literature centred on the countries of origin of migrants, the one focusing on Romanian workers does not specifically distinguish itself from the general literature already analysed here. The few analysed papers centred on migrants' countries of origin are focused on Romanian media reactions.³⁰⁷

5.1 MAINTAINING MIGRANT WORKFORCES

One focus of the research was the measures adopted by states to guarantee the availability of labour, such as:

- chartering planes from migrants' countries of origin in Germany, Italy and Spain;³⁰⁸
- regularizing undocumented workers in Italy;³⁰⁹
- extending the permits for migrants whose documents were due to expire during the pandemic;³¹⁰ and
- providing subsidies for companies³¹¹ and the labour force.³¹²

In Germany, labour legislation was amended, extending the period for which employers do not have to pay social security contributions from 70 to 115 days. This situation lasted for a year, and in April 2021 the social security-free period remained at 102 days, instead of reverting to 70, as it was before COVID. These expansions of the social security exemptions ensured it was cheaper for employers to keep the same labour force for longer. Only recently was it switched back to the original 70-day period. Working days were also extended from 8 hours to 12.³¹³

In Sweden, migrant agricultural workers were excluded from government-approved measures, to reduce the cost of their contributions to employers.³¹⁴ In Finland, the

minimum wage earned by Thai migrant workers for the harvesting season was reduced from €3000 to €2200 due to the harvesting season being shorter than usual because of the pandemic.³¹⁵

Some countries had to recompose their labour force.³¹⁶ As the Moroccan women who would normally work in Huelva could not travel,³¹⁷ the Spanish government established bilateral agreements with new countries of origin for migrant workers. Romanian workers prioritized countries closer to their home country, such as Germany, and those offering better pay than the Mediterranean countries they had traditionally worked in.³¹⁸ In Finland, the minimum wage earned by Thai migrant workers for the harvesting season was reduced from €3000 to €2200 due to the harvesting season being shorter than usual because of the pandemic.

Spain and Italy attempted to retain migrants who were already in their territory.³¹⁹ Farmers in those countries also started hiring new groups; in Spain, this included unemployed workers or unaccompanied migrant minors,³²⁰ and in Italy asylum seekers were hired.³²¹ Finland also adopted these measures.³²²

5.2 PUBLIC DISCOURSE

Some research analysed the public discourse of politicians and the media on migrants and the measures implemented by states. One of the most common findings was the utilitarian nature of these discourses, generally aimed at justifying the need to secure the labour force that sustains the agri-food sector.³²³ In other cases, the narrative took on a humanitarian nature, taking advantage of the new visibility of the conditions affecting these essential workers. Certain discourses employed the language of essentiality to call for measures aimed at improving the lives of migrant workers.³²⁴

5.3 WORKING CONDITIONS

In general terms, we see that while some pieces of research during that period focused on changes in working and living conditions caused by the pandemic, other publications focused on exposing conditions that the general public was only just learning about, but had been prevalent for decades.³²⁵ Other reports revealed how the pandemic was worsening conditions, as some companies were extending working hours³²⁶ (as in Germany, see **Section 5.1**), intensifying work,³²⁷ changing salaried relationships to piecework,³²⁸ paying lower wages than agreed³²⁹ or even applying coercive measures such as withdrawing workers' passports.³³⁰

Several investigations revealed employers failing to provide protective masks and enforce social distancing between workers, which led to large outbreaks of COVID-19.³³¹ There were even reported cases in which sick migrants were forced to continue working, ³³² the worst consequence of which were the deaths of a Polish and a Romanian worker on two German farms due to COVID-19.³³³

However, it was not all negative: for example, in Germany, because of the pandemic, controls on companies were increased.³³⁴ In the Netherlands, the government created a specific task force to monitor the working conditions of migrants in the agricultural

sector.³³⁵ Moreover, among other issues, the European Parliament's greater awareness prompted the negotiation and subsequent incorporation of a social conditionality clause in the CAP, which involves withdrawing subsidies from employers that violate workers' rights.³³⁶

5.4 MIGRANT ORGANIZATION

Some migrants took measures themselves to organize, taking advantage of the pandemic focus to improve their situation, creating platforms such as #regularizaciónya ('regularization now') in Spain,³³⁷ and organizing protests and strikes.³³⁸ A key point in their struggle for better legal and working conditions related to the fact that they were declared as 'essential' or 'critical' workers both by their host states and the EU to allow them to avoid quarantine measures, but this did not result in substantial legal or political improvements in their lives.³³⁹

6 RECOMMENDATIONS

This review of the academic and non-academic literature has shown the severity, complexity and structural nature of the exploitation faced by migrant farmworkers across Europe. Their specific needs include wage problems, job instability, lack of access to basic services, and poor protection from work-related hazards. It has also been identified how these problems, combined with precarious administrative statuses and structural racism, reinforce the difficulties experienced by workers in destination countries. Migrant women are even more vulnerable, as they are also exposed to sexual and reproductive risks affecting their family planning or fertility. The urgency and severity of the situation has already been noted at supra-European institutional levels, including UN rapporteurs publicly denouncing the situation in Italy³⁴⁰ and Spain.³⁴¹



Professor Philip Alston, UN Special Rapporteur on extreme poverty and human rights In Huelva, I met with workers living in a migrant settlement in conditions that rival the worst I have seen anywhere in the world. They are kilometers away from water, and live without electricity or adequate sanitation. Many have lived there for years and can afford to pay rent, but said no one will accept them as tenants. They are earning as little as 30 euros per day, and have almost no access to any form of government support. One person told me, "When there's work, Spain needs migrants, but no one is interested in our living conditions."



It has been broadly reported in the media that more than thousands of daylabourers live in Southern Italy area during its picking seasons. Farmers employ seasonal workers from Eastern Europe, Africa and Italy under illegal conditions. Unofficial surveys put that number as high as 90 percent in Foggia. Numerous reports indicate that migrant workers endure slavery-like conditions in the olive oil, tomato and grapes industries among others.

Ms Hilal Elver, Former UN Special Rapporteur on the right to food Discussion with several NGOs and meetings with agriculture workers from different parts of the country have revealed that a number of people still actively engage in agricultural work, including women and migrants. Regardless of sex, age and nationality status, I learned that agriculture workers are exploited and underpaid. This is particularly severe when it comes to migrant workers hired during the harvest season around the country, especially if migrants are undocumented.

In order to address this situation, it is necessary to tackle the root causes while also providing shorter-term solutions. Oxfam has been working for many years on tackling inequalities and human rights abuses in the agrifood value chains, as well as monitoring and challenging EU migration policies. Based on our experience, previous engagement with allies and partners, and considering the situation described in this report, we suggest the following actions.

6.1 THE COMMON AGRICULTURAL POLICY

Strengthen the implementation of social conditionality in the Common Agricultural Policy (CAP). To ensure effective protection of agricultural workers across the EU, it is essential to adopt a holistic approach that encompasses updating regulations, extending coverage to all CAP payments and strengthening monitoring.

- a. Amend the social conditionality framework to include compliance with higher labour and social standards than those already linked with the conditionality:
 - Directive 2019/1152 on 'Transparent and predictable working conditions';
 - Directive 89/391/EEC on 'Measures to encourage improvements in the safety and health of workers at work' (regarding workplace safety); and
 - Directive 2009/104/EC on 'Minimum safety and health requirements for the use of work equipment by workers'.

This could include additional specific requirements for the protection of migrant workers, measures against discrimination and harassment in the workplace, and guarantees of decent living conditions.

- b. Extend social conditionality to all CAP payments and programs. This would involve amending regulations so that social conditionality applies not only to direct payments but also to payments through specific sectoral programs, ensuring that this condition is universal and not limited to the direct payments and certain types of interventions within rural development. This expansion would help ensure that all agricultural workers, regardless of their sector, especially in those where most exploitative conditions occur, such as the fruit and vegetable sector, are protected by adequate labour and social standards.
- c. Establish specific guidelines for the application of social conditionality in sectors employing a large number of vulnerable workers, including migrants. These guidelines should include control and sanction mechanisms tailored to the peculiarities of these sectors, such as seasonal work and specific employment practices. Additionally, there could be additional requirements for these sectors, ensuring effective management and proper application of relevant sanctions.
- d. Encourage and facilitate collaboration among EU member states with similar agricultural sectors to develop and apply uniform practices in the implementation of social conditionality.
- e. Establish robust monitoring and evaluation systems to review the effectiveness of social conditionality across all agricultural sectors. This should include sector-specific data collection on compliance with labour and social standards and the impact of social conditionality on improving working conditions.
- f. Actively involve a wide range of stakeholders including agricultural workers, unions, employer organizations, NGOs, and representatives from the fruit and vegetable sector – in the process of reviewing and adjusting the social

conditionality framework. Direct participation from these groups should ensure that policies are informed by a deep understanding of the needs and challenges of the sector. Additionally, it is essential that the selection criteria for stakeholders be transparent, ensuring fair and equitable representation of all involved sectors.

- g. Since it is the responsibility of member states to define penalties in case of noncompliance, the European Union should require each member state to establish a detailed annual report on penalties applied under the social conditionality framework. These reports would include information on the number of penalties imposed, the nature of the infringements, the most affected geographical areas, the profile of the workers and the corrective measures adopted by farmers. In addition:
 - The European Commission should analyse these reports to assess the effectiveness and consistency of penalties applied at the national level. This would identify potential areas for improvement, significant discrepancies in the application of penalties among member states, and allow governments to share best practices.
 - The European Commission could provide specific feedback to each member state, including recommendations to improve the implementation of social conditionality and ensure greater consistency across the EU.
 - The European Commission should publish an annual report summarizing the findings of its assessment, highlighting progress, challenges and recommendations for future actions. This would contribute to transparency and public dialogue on the effectiveness of social conditionality in the CAP.

6.2 A HUMAN RIGHTS APPROACH

To tackle the structural issues and root causes, there is a need for policymakers and stakeholders to adopt a human rights and value-chain approach by integrating the following issues:

- a. The European Union and its member states must ensure that the UN Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights, and the ILO's Convention No. 143 on migrant workers, as well as the latter's Decent Work Agenda, represent a key reference framework for European policies on agrifood value chains.
- Member States should ensure a speedy and effective transposition of the European Union's Corporate Sustainability Due Diligence Directive into national legislation.
- c. The European Commission must increase efforts to integrate the European Pillar of Social Rights into the Farm to Fork Strategy, with specific measures addressed to improve the living and working conditions of migrant workers.
- d. With growing evidence that women are particularly affected, the European Union must implement a comprehensive gender approach in its agricultural policies, ensuring special protection and care for women workers in agriculture, as well

as providing them the means to easily declare any irregularities they experience. Sanctions should include an aggravating factor for gender-based violence.

- e. The European Union must reform Directive 2014/36/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 26 February 2014 on 'the conditions of entry and stay of third-country nationals for the purpose of employment as seasonal workers' to guarantee that any temporary migration programme in the EU respects the following rights:
 - repeated participants should benefit from automatically receiving permanent residence permits after having worked in Europe for three seasons. Additionally, workers who experience labour rights violations should be eligible for a oneyear bridging visa to stabilize their situation, granting them full access to the labour market and social rights;
 - workers must be allowed to come with their families;
 - programs must not only allow but also enable workers to change employers, jobs and sectors through a simple, fast, free and predictable procedure. This should be possible at will, without limitations to specific sectors, ensuring workers have the flexibility to move freely in response to their needs and working conditions;
 - employers must pay round-trip costs (not only the return leg); and
 - the decision on when to start and finish work should be decided by both parties, not only employers.
 - To better support migrant and seasonal workers, it is recommended to extend the period they can remain unemployed to six months beyond their permit's expiration, allowing them to seek new employment without the threat of deportation. During this time, workers should be eligible to engage in any job and receive a minimum income subsidy to aid financial stability, especially if they lack sufficient job contributions for standard unemployment benefits.
- f. The European Union must also be made aware that Directive 2014/36/EU only affects third country nationals not residing in the EU. However, the vast majority of migrant farmworkers are either permanent residents or EU citizens, so new legislative tools must be developed to protect the whole foreign agricultural workforce. Importantly, future legislation should extend protections to include undocumented workers within the territory, ensuring comprehensive coverage and support for all individuals working in agriculture, regardless of their documentation status.
- g. The European Commission should present a legislative proposal to amend Directive 2019/633 on Unfair Trading Practices in the Business to Business Food Supply Chain banning purchases below the cost of production for all buyers of agricultural goods within the European Union, whether or not the supplier is based in the European Union.
- h. Promote the development and implementation of a Grievance Mechanism across the EU, aligned with the UN Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights

(UNGPs) Effectiveness Criteria. This mechanism should be structured to ensure credibility and impact, embodying the characteristics of being legitimate, accessible, predictable, equitable, transparent, rights-compatible, a source of continuous learning, and founded on engagement and dialogue. Key crosscutting themes must include incorporating a gender-based perspective, protecting individuals from the risk of retaliation, ensuring meaningful stakeholder engagement, linking grievance mechanisms to human rights due diligence, maintaining transparency and effective communication, and understanding and responding to the remedy ecosystem. This approach will foster a robust framework for addressing grievances related to business practices throughout the European Union, promoting a harmonized standard of human rights observance and corporate accountability.

 Establish specific safeguards and redress mechanisms for workers affected by labor violations. This should include creating 'firewalls' to prevent migrant workers who are victims of labor vio-lations from facing immigration enforcement due to inspections. Additional measures should also be implemented to ensure that affected workers have access to residence permits and compensation in cases where violations lead to job loss or other negative consequences. These safeguards are crucial to protect vulnerable workers and ensure that the enforcement of labor laws does not inadvertently harm those it aims to help.

6.3 REPRESENTATION

Public administrations and trade unions must advocate in favour of the labour and social rights of migrant farmworkers.

- a. Increase the frequency and effectiveness of labour inspections across European farms, focusing on enforcing labour standards and human rights. It's critical to allocate sufficient resources for these inspections while establishing clear safeguards to separate labour enforcement from immigration enforcement. This will prevent inspections from resulting in the arrest, detention, or deportation of undocumented workers. Trade unions should oversee these measures to ensure that inspections improve working conditions without jeopardizing worker safety or rights.
- b. Ensure greater and more inclusive representation of foreign farmworkers on the issues affecting them. The ideal way to achieve this would be to integrate a substantial number of migrant labourers in the structures of trade unions in European countries. In the short term, national unions should make sure to fully integrate the specific needs of this workforce in their agenda as priority demands, given the severity of the exploitation and lack of social rights across Europe. It is important to ensure women's representation due to the specific problems and risks that they face.
- c. Establish permanent partnerships with smaller unions, small producers, organizations of migrant farmworkers, and organizations supporting migrants

to better address the unique challenges of migrant farmworkers. Smaller unions and small producers are closely connected to the day-to-day realities of these workers and can quickly implement necessary improvements. Involving organizations of migrant farmworkers and those supporting migrants ensures that a broad range of experiences and needs are considered, facilitating more effective and comprehensive strategies to enhance the wellbeing and working conditions of migrant farmworkers.

6.4 ADDRESSING NEEDS

To effectively address the challenges faced by migrant workers in the agricultural sector, a comprehensive strategy encompassing targeted financial allocations and programmatic initiatives is crucial.

- a. The European Union and member states should allocate specific funds to address the serious housing issues faced by migrant workers in the fields, with a special focus on those forced to reside in informal settlements, such as shantytowns. Such funds must be directed towards developing permanent and adequate public housing, transcending temporary solutions such as shelters, which do not offer a sustainable long-term response. Such measures should also recognise the distinctive housing needs of women.
- b. The European Union and member states should also allocate specific funds to strengthen the public transport system in areas with a high concentration of migrant workers to allow them to access basic services and reach their workplaces. Employers must also be involved, ensuring that workers can reach their workplaces safely and have full and secure access to basic services.
- c. The European Union and member states must promote programmes encouraging agricultural companies and public administrations to provide OSH training adapted to the different languages and cultures of migrant workers. This should be inclusive and accessible, ensuring all workers understand occupational safety pictorials, practices and regulations. In addition, it is essential to reinforce, through regular inspections, that workers receive free of charge and on an ongoing basis the personal protective equipment necessary to perform their tasks safely.
- d. The European Commission should define common guidelines for guaranteeing universal access to public healthcare for all foreign agricultural workers, regardless of their administrative status. Member states must also ensure their health systems are inclusive, so migrant workers can communicate effectively and receive quality care in their home languages, especially in areas with a high migrant population. In addition, patients' cultural and physical particularities, as well as differentiated needs of women and men, must be considered and respected in medical treatment to ensure appropriate care.

ANNEX: METHODOLOGY

This report is based on an extensive literature review. The process for finding sources differed between academic and non-academic literature.

ACADEMIC LITERATURE SEARCH

Specialized databases make the systematic review of academic literature possible. The Web of Science and Scopus databases were searched for all possible combinations from a set of words from the semantic fields for *migrant workers and agriculture (see Table 1)*.

Table 1: Searched categories in WOS and Scopus

Terms meaning 'migrant worker'	"migrant labour"; "migrant labour"; "seasonal workers"; "circular migration"; "temporary workers"; migration; foreigners; "foreign workers"; migrants
Terms meaning	agriculture; "primary sector"; agri-food; agri-food; horticulture;
'agriculture'	"food production"; agro-industry

Source: Authors' own work

All the results obtained by searching for expressions that also mean 'migrant farm worker', but which cannot be constructed by combining specific terms from the two previous groups, such as "migrant farm worker"; "migrant farmworker"; "foreign farm worker"; "foreign farmworker" were added.

These searches have been refined by limiting the results to only those texts that met specific requirements:

1. Publication date: 2018 to 2023.

- 2. Country: Nine states were selected. Spain, Italy, France, Poland and the Netherlands were chosen because they are the five main producers of fresh fruit and vegetables in the EU, accounting for 72% of total production (see Table 2). To ensure spatial coverage of the continent, two northern European countries were added. Finland and Sweden were selected, as both have temporary migration programmes in their agricultural sector. Germany and Greece were also included, as their agricultural sectors have significant numbers of migrant workers. The main countries of origin Romania, Thailand, Morocco, and Ukraine were added to the nine selected destination countries.
- **3. Field:** Ascribed to either a social science discipline,³⁴² a health science discipline³⁴³ or multidisciplinary.

Table 2: Top 5 EU producers of fresh vegetables³⁴⁴ (including melons and strawberries) (harvested production, 1000t), 2022

COUNTRY	КТ	%
Spain	14194	24
Italy	12449	21
France	6003	10
Poland	5521	9
Netherlands	4869	8
TOTAL EU-27	60114	100

Source: Eurostat. (2023). Crop production in national humidity [apro_cpnh1]. https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/databrowser/view/APR0_CPNH1_custom_10929579/default/table?lang=en. Last accessed 21 March 2024.

All the articles found during the search were reviewed to check their relevance for inclusion in the final sample to be analysed. Not every article found through the criteria discussed migrant farmworkers in Europe and were thus excluded.

Finally, the authors added articles that met all the requirements and were considered relevant based on their previous knowledge of the field, but that did not appear in the searches. Around 15% of the academic sources finally consulted were incorporated through this discretionary procedure.

The result is a database of 140 texts³⁴⁵ distributed by country as shown in **Table 3**.

Table 3: Sample of selected articles by country or region*

Spain	41
Italy	41
Sweden	10
Germany	9
Finland	2
Greece	4
France	3
The Netherlands	2
Poland	4
Europe or sub-regions, without clearly distinguishing countries	24

Source: Authors' own work

*Articles with an origin perspective were included in this sample according to the destination country or region described (e.g. an analysis of Romanian media on seasonal workers in Europe is included in the category 'Europe').

NON-ACADEMIC LITERATURE SEARCH

A different process was used to find literature by non-academic actors, such as civil society organizations and state or supra-state public bodies.

Firstly, literature was requested from relevant social organisations in the sector and partners in the SafeHabitus project. Oxfam affiliates submitted several reports related to the nine European countries. Economic and social partners submitted three texts as well as additional background material.

Afterwards, the authors used non-specialist internet search engines to enrich the database with other relevant texts that had yet to be provided by the reference organizations. The database was completed by adding, on a discretionary basis, a few more reports considered relevant according to the authors' prior knowledge.

As a result of this process, a sample of 37 non-academic reports was constructed, with the distribution by country as shown in **Table 4.**

Spain	9
Italy	6
Sweden	1
Germany	2
Finland	2
Greece	2
France	4
The Netherlands	1
Poland	3
Europe or sub-regions, without clearly distinguishing countries	7

Table 4: Sample of selected non-academic reports by country or region*

Source: Own elaboration

*Articles with an origin perspective were included in this sample according to the destination country or region described (e.g. an analysis of Romanian media on seasonal workers in Europe is included in the category 'Europe')

ANALYSIS

The authors analysed the identified literature by extracting each piece of information related to the thematic objectives of this report:

- working conditions;
- transport;
- residence;
- health and safety at work (including accidents and long-term health problems);
- access to public health systems; and
- the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Gender issues were addressed as a cross-cutting priority.

The results presented exclusively reflect the contents of the literature and in no way pretend to represent the contexts analysed. Some countries have more mentions than others due to the relative amount of research produced and does not imply that some issues are exclusive to certain states. The authors of this report are responsible for the analysis of the content found, not for the information published in the sources from which the data is drawn.



Strawberry pickers in Spain. Photo: Pablo Tosco/Oxfam Intermon.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

All links last accessed 9 February 2024 unless otherwise specified.

- Aldi. (2022). Human Rights Impact Assessment Report: Citrus from Spain-Valencia and Murcia. <u>https://www.aldi-nord.de/content/dam/aldi/germany/verantwortung/</u> <u>menschenrechte/AN_HRIA-Report-Citrus.pdf.res/1676465232502/AN_HRIA-Report-</u> Citrus.pdf
- Allepuz Capdevila, R., & Torres Solé, T. (2018). La contratación de temporeros en las campañas de recolección del sector frutícola. *Cuadernos de Relaciones Laborales*, 36(1), 107–23.
- Ambrosini, M. (2023). Moral economy and deservingness in immigration policies. The case of regularisations in Italy. *Ethnicities*, 23(2), 306–30. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/14687968221117544</u>
- Ana, D., & Voicu, Ş. (2023). After Arbeitsschutzkontrollgesetz. Strikes and Organic Intellectuals in the German Meat Industry. *Sociologie Romaneasca*, 21(1), 93–113. <u>https://doi.org/10.33788/sr.21.1.5</u>
- Anderlini, J. (2022). Fitful circulations: Unauthorized movements in the Sicilian transit zone. *International Migration*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/imig.12996</u>
- Anghel, R. G., Vesalon, L., & Toma, S. (2023). Romania's agricultural workers. Return mobilities and modes of food production. *International Migration*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/imig.13190</u>
- Avola, M. (2022). Employed but segregated: the exploitation of immigrant work in Mediterranean agriculture. *Journal of Modern Italian Studies*, 27(5), 749–74. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1354571X.2022.2040817</u>
- Axelsson, L., & Hedberg, C. (2018). Emerging topologies of transnational employment: 'Posting' Thai workers in Sweden's wild berry industry beyond regulatory reach. *Geoforum*, 89, 1–10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoforum.2018.01.003</u>
- Bagagiolo, G., Vigoroso, L., Caffaro, F., Cremasco, M. M., & Cavallo, E. (2019). Conveying safety messages on agricultural machinery: The comprehension of safety pictorials in a group of migrant farmworkers in Italy. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 16(21). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16214180</u>
- Battistelli, S. (2021). Cittadinanze e sfruttamento nel caso di un'azienda agricola "innovativa." Lavoro e Diritto. *Lavoro e diritto*, 2/2021, 321–34. http://www. rivisteweb.it/doi/10.1441/100866_
- Biaback Anong, D. (2023). Seasonal workers wanted! Germany's seasonal labour migration regime and the COVID-19 pandemic. *Politics*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/02633957231168039</u>
- Bogoeski, V. (2022). Continuities of exploitation: seasonal migrant workers in German agriculture during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Journal of Law and Society*, 49(4), 681–702. https://doi.org/10.1111/jols.12389

- Brah Hema, K. (2020). *The struggle of farm workers in Italy*. Rosa Luxemburg Stiftung. <u>https://www.rosalux.eu/en/article/1966.the-struggles-of-farm-workers-in-italy.</u> html
- Brovia, C., & Piro, V. (2021). Ghettos, camps and dormitories : Migrant workers' living conditions in enclaves of industrial agriculture in Italy. *International Labour Migration* to Europe's Rural Regions, 52–69. <u>https://www.taylorfrancis.com/chapters/</u> <u>oa-edit/10.4324/9781003022367-5/ghettos-camps-dormitories-cristina-brovia-</u> valeria-piro
- Bruzelius, C., & Seeleib-Kaiser, M. (2023). Enforcing outsiders' rights: seasonal agricultural workers and institutionalised exploitation in the EU. *Journal of Ethnic* and Migration Studies, 49(16), 4188–4205. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/136918</u> 3X.2023.2207340
- Cáritas. (2020). Vulneraciones de derechos laborales en el sector agrícola, la hostelería y los empleos del hogar. <u>https://www.caritas.es/producto/vulneraciones-de-</u> <u>derechos-laborales-en-el-sector-agricola-la-hosteleria-y-los-empleos-del-</u> <u>hogar/</u>
- Carmo, R. M., & Hedberg, C. (2019). Translocal mobility systems: Social inequalities and flows in the wild berry industry. *Geoforum*, 99, 102–110. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoforum.2018.12.002</u>
- Carnibella, F., & Wells, R. (2022). Framing of policy responses to migrant horticultural labour shortages during Covid-19 in the Italian print media. *Journal of Rural Studies*, 95, 278–293. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrurstud.2022.09.007</u>
- Caruso, F. S. (2018). Dal ghetto agli alberghi diffusi: l'inserimento abitativo dei braccianti stagionali nei contesti rurali dell'Europa meridionale. *Sociologia Urbana e Rurale*, 116, 78–92. https://doi.org/10.3280/sur2018-116006
- Castillero Quesada, S. (2021). La esencialidad del cuarto mundo. "Las marroquíes y los morenos" en la salvaguarda de la producción alimentaria en la frontera sur. *Revista de Estudios Sociales*, 78(78), 128–143. https://doi.org/10.7440/res78.2021.08
- Castillero-Quesada, S. (2022). Frutos Rojos en la Era Global: Temporalidad, Migración e Inestabilidad. *Anduli*, 22, 13–30. <u>https://doi.org/10.12795/anduli.2022.i22.02</u>
- Castillero, S. (2020). Producción alimentaria intensiva, migraciones y género: la industria del fruto rojo en la provincia de Huelva, España. *Maguaré*, 34(2), 113–136. <u>https://doi.org/10.15446/mag.v34n2.92582</u>
- Castillero, S. (2022). El Colectivo de Trabajadores Africanos ante la geopolítica del fruto rojo. In López, M & Ángel, M. (eds.) *Desafíos, necesidades y oportunidades para el mundo rural. la llamada a la aplicación de los derechos de los campesinos y otras personas que trabajan en el ámbito rural,* pp. 599–617.
- Cavanna, P. (2018). Forced labour and other forms of labour exploitation in the italian agri-food sector: Strong laws, weak protection for migrant workers. In Borraccetti, M. (ed.) Labour Migration in Europe Volume II: Exploitation and Legal Protection of Migrant Workers, pp. 69–97. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-93979-7_4
- Caxaj, C. S., Shkopi, E., Naranjo, C. T., Chew, A., Hao, Y. T., & Nguyen, M. (2023). Health, social and legal supports for migrant agricultural workers in France, Italy, Spain, Germany, Canada, Australia and New Zealand: a scoping review. *Frontiers in Public Health*, 11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2023.1182816

- Ceccarelli, G. (2018). Al giusto prezzo I diritti umani nelle filiere dei supermercati italiani. Oxfam. <u>https://www.oxfamitalia.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/BtBP_</u> <u>ITA_Annex_v1.1.pdf</u>
- Ceccarelli, G., & Ciconte, F. (2018). *Human Suffering in Italy's Agricultural Value Chain*. Oxfam. <u>https://policy-practice.oxfam.org/resources/human-suffering-in-italys-agricultural-value-chain-620479/</u>
- Ceccarelli, G & Fattibene, D. (2020). *Do We Need an EU Ethical Food Label? How a mix of measures could help clean up Europe's agri-food system*. 0xfam & 0pen Society European Policy Institute. <u>https://www.opensocietyfoundations.org/publications/</u> do-we-need-an-eu-ethical-food-label
- Checa Olmos, F., Corrado, A., & Caruso, F. S. (2018). Territorios en transición. Migraciones y agricultura en el Sur de Europa. Los casos de Almería (España) y Sibari (Italia). *Cuadernos Geográficos*, 57(3). <u>https://doi.org/10.30827/cuadgeo.v57i3.6407</u>
- Checa Olmos, F., Caruso, F. S., & Corrado, A. (2023). A Southern European model of migrant agricultural labour: Two case studies in Andalusia (Spain) and Calabria (Italy). In Miranda, A. & Pérez-Caramés, A. (eds.) *Migration Patterns Across the Mediterranean: Exchanges, Conflicts and Coexistence*. Cheltenham: Edward Elgar, pp. 129–43. https://doi.org/10.4337/9781800887350.00016
- Ciconte, F., Fotiadis, A., Liberti, A., & Paone, M. (2021). *E(U)xploitation / Gangmastering: The Southern Question in Italy, Spain and Greece*. Terra. <u>https://www.</u> <u>associazioneterra.it/cosa-facciamo/filiere-e-caporalato/inchiesta-euxploitation</u>
- Clunies-Ross, T., & Hildyard, N. (2010). *The Politics of Industrial Agriculture*. Routledge.
- Corcione, E. (2022). Disconnecting agricultural workers' exploitation from migration policies: a trend towards a business and human rights approach in the European Union. *European Law Open*, 1(3), 699–710. https://doi.org/10.1017/elo.2022.37
- Corrado, A. (2018). Is Italian Agriculture a "Pull Factor" for Irregular Migration-And, If So, Why? Open Society European Policy Institute. <u>https://www.opensocietyfoundations.</u> org/uploads/ba12312d-31f1-4e29-82bf-7d8c41df48ad/is-italian-agriculture-apull-factor-for-irregular-migration-20181205.pdf
- Corrado, A., & Caruso, F. S. (2022). Essential but Exploitable: Migrant Agri-Food Workers in Italy and Spain. *European Journal of Migration and Law*, 24(2), 193–216. <u>https://doi.org/10.1163/15718166-12340126</u>
- Corrado, A., De Castro, C., & Perrotta, D. (2017). *Migration and Agriculture. Mobility and change in the Mediterranean area*. Routledge.
- Corrado, A., Iocco, G., & Cascio, M. Lo. (2020). Respatialization of migrations and differentiated ruralities in times of crisis in southern Italy. In Döner, F. N., Figueiredo, E., & Rivera, M. J. (eds.) Crisis and Post-Crisis in Rural Territories: Social Change, Challenges and Opportunities in Southern and Mediterranean Europe, pp. 73–95. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-50581-3_5
- Corrado, A., & Palumbo, L. (2022). Essential Farmworkers and the Pandemic Crisis: Migrant Labour Conditions, and Legal and Political Responses in Italy and Spain. In Triandafyllidou, A. (ed.) *Migration and Pandemics: Spaces of Solidarity and Spaces of Exception*. IMISCOE pp. 145–166. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-81210-2_8</u>
- Corrado, A., & Zumpano, C. (2021). Migration, agriculture and rurality: dynamics, experiences and policies in Europe. *Italian Review of Agricultural Economics*, 76 (1), 3–6. <u>https://doi.org/10.36253/rea-12822</u>

- Cortignani, R., Carulli, G., & Dono, G. (2020). COVID-19 and labour in agriculture: Economic and productive impacts in an agricultural area of the Mediterranean. *Italian Journal of Agronomy*, 15(2), 172–181. https://doi.org/10.4081/ija.2020.1653
- Cosma, V. S., Ban, C., & Gabor, D. (2020). The Human Cost of Fresh Food: Romanian Workers and Germany's Food Supply Chains. *Review of Agrarian Studies*, 10(2), 7–27. https://ageconsearch.umn.edu/record/311103
- Cottino, G. (2021). 'Vertical mobility'. Migrants' trajectories within/between the western Alps and southern Italy. *Journal of Modern Italian Studies*, 26(5), 627–643. <u>https://</u>doi.org/10.1080/1354571X.2021.1953775
- Crăciun, M. (2020). Migration of Romanians for Work During Restrictions Imposed By the Covid-19 Pandemic. Case Study : Romanians Leave To Pick Asparagus in Germany. *Revista Universitara de Sociologie*, 1, 298–309. <u>https://www.ceeol.com/search/</u> article-detail?id=944263
- Darly, S., Hochedez, C., Le Gall, J., Poulot, M., & Aragau, C. (2021). Agricultural activity, a resource for the circulation or anchoring of migrant workers and farmers? An exploration of the literature on the reconfiguration of the links between agriculture and migration in France. *Cahiers Agricultures*, 30. <u>https://doi.org/10.1051/</u> <u>cagri/2020045</u>
- De Castro, C., Gadea, E., & Pedreño, A. (2018). Precarization of the labor force, union mobilization and day laborers resistance in the agro-food sector of the Region of Murcia, Spain. *Estudios Migratorios Latinamericanos*, 30(81), 201–225.
- de Diego-Cordero, R., Romero-Saldaña, M., Jigato-Calero, A., Badanta, B., Lucchetti, G., & Vega-Escaño, J. (2021). "Looking for Better (Job) Opportunities": A Qualitative Analysis of the Occupational Health of Immigrants in Southern Spain. Workplace Health and Safety, 69(5), 198–207. https://doi.org/10.1177/2165079920988005
- De Rosa, M., Bartoli, L., Leonardi, S., & Perito, M. A. (2019). The contribution of immigrants to multifunctional agricultural systems in Italy. *Sustainability*, 11(17). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/sul1174641</u>
- Depeyrot, J.-N., Magnan, A., Michel, D.-A., Laurent, C. C., & Laurent El, C. C. (2019). Emplois précaires en agriculture. *Notes et Etudes Socio-Economiques*, 45, 7–56. <u>https://hal.science/hal-02416843</u>
- Di Gennaro, F., Lattanzio, R., Falanga, C., Negri, S., Papagni, R., Novara, R., Panico, G. G., Totaro, V., Poliseno, M., Bavaro, D. F., Raho, L., Schiavone, M., Laforgia, N., Volpe, A., Laforgia, R., Lo Caputo, S., Marotta, C., Putoto, G., & Saracino, A. (2021). Low-Wage Agricultural Migrant Workers in Apulian Ghettos, Italy: General Health Conditions Assessment and HIV Screening. *Tropical Medicine and Infectious Disease*, 6(4), 184. https://doi.org/10.3390/tropicalmed6040184
- Dines, N. (2023). After entry: Humanitarian exploitation and migrant labour in the fields of southern Italy. *Environment and Planning D: Society and Space*, 41(1), 74–91. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/02637758221117161</u>
- Dom**ş**odi, D. (2019). Labour Relations and Labour Structures in Mediterranean Capitalism. Caporalato and Romanian Migration in the Southern Italian Agriculture. *Studia Universitatis Babes-Bolyai Sociologia*, 64(1), 127–42. <u>https://doi.org/10.2478/</u> <u>subbs-2019-0006</u>
- Doomernik, J., Garcés-Mascareñas, B., & Güell, B. (2023). Seasonal Workers in Agriculture: The Cases of Spain and The Netherlands in Times of Covid-19. In

Finotelli, C. & Ponzo, I. (eds.) *Migration Control Logics and Strategies: A North-South Comparison*. IMISCOE, pp. 209–226. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-26002-5_11</u>

- Echajri Amhaouch, I. (2021). Las condiciones laborales de las temporeras magrebíes en los campos de Huelva. FEMERIS: Revista Multidisciplinar de Estudios de Género, 6(1), 102–21. https://doi.org/10.20318/femeris.2021.5934
- EFFAT. (2019). Better protection for workers: Solutions for agriculture, forestry, horticulture and aquaculture in Europe. <u>https://effat.org/wp-content/</u> uploads/2019/05/2019-HS-Summary-EN.pdf
- Escrivà, A. (2022). Globalization and health: Gender issues in temporary agricultural work (Huelva). In N. Ribas-Mateos & S. Sassen (eds.) *The Elgar Companion to Gender and Global Migration*, pp. 324–33. <u>https://doi.org/10.4337/9781802201260.00036</u>
- European Economic and Social Committee. (2023). Collecting data on the situation of social protection of seasonal workers in the agriculture and food sectors in EU Member States after COVID-19. <u>https://www.eesc.europa.eu/en/our-work/</u> <u>publications-other-work/publications/collecting-data-situation-social-</u> <u>protection-seasonal-workers-agriculture-and-food-sectors-eu-member-states-</u> <u>after-covid</u>
- EUROSTAT. (2021). *Key figures on the European food chain 2021 edition*. <u>https://</u>ec.europa.eu/eurostat/web/products-key-figures/-/KS-FK-21-001
- FA0. (2020). *Migrant workers and the COVID-19 pandemic*. <u>https://www.fao.org/policy-support/tools-and-publications/resources-details/en/c/1270461/</u>
- Fernández García, M., Molinero-Gerbeau, Y., & Sajir, Z. (2023). 'They think you belong to them': migrant workers' perspectives on labour exploitation in Spain. *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies*, 49(15), 3976–95. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/136918</u> <u>3X.2023.2235896</u>
- Fiałkowska, K., & Matuszczyk, K. (2021). Safe and fruitful? Structural vulnerabilities in the experience of seasonal migrant workers in agriculture in Germany and Poland. *Safety Science*, 139. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssci.2021.105275
- Fiatkowska, K., Matuszczyk, K., & Szulecka, M. (2022). Agricultural exceptionality, migrant farmworkers, and the pandemic - Evidence from Poland as a new destination country. *Estudios Geograficos*, 83(293). <u>https://doi.org/10.3989/ estgeogr.2022116.116</u>
- Filigrana García, P., Lalana Alonso, B., Martínez Moreno, C., & Ramos Antuñano, T. (2021). La Situación de las Jornaleras en los Campos de Fresa de Huelva Informe Jurídico. https://jornalerasenlucha.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/InformeJuridicoBriga daDe0bservacion-JornalerasDeHuelvaEnLucha.pdf
- Fravega, E. (2023). Looking for Homes in Migrants' Informal Settlements: A Case Study from Italy. In: Boccagni, P., & Bonfanti, S. (eds.) *Migration and Domestic Space*.
 IMISCOE, pp. 153–70. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-23125-4_9
- Frécenon, B., Marx, J.-M. & Petit, N. (2021). Nouvelles formes de travail en agriculture. CGAAER, Rapport N° 20090. <u>https://agriculture.gouv.fr/telecharger/127440?t-</u> ken=b9416ac108168009fbd25d55216ab3e8b1aacb831f69755813a4ac38125715c3

Garcés Mascareñas, B., & Güell, B. (2021). Temporeros agrícolas en España: nuevas caras de un viejo problema. In J. Arango, B. Garcés Mascareñas, R. Mahía, & D. Moya. (eds.) *Inmigración en tiempos de Covid-19*. CIDOB, pp. 86–100. <u>https://www.cidob.</u>

org/es/articulos/anuario_cidob_de_la_inmigracion/2020/temporeros_agricolas_ en_espana_nuevas_caras_de_un_viejo_problema

- García-Mora, M. E., Carla, C., & Pérez Prieto, L. (2023). *Las invisibles de los asentamientos chabolistas. Investigación Acción Participativa sobre múltiples violencias basadas en el género: el caso de los asentamientos.* <u>https://www.</u> <u>researchgate.net/publication/369901740_Las_invisibles_de_los_asentamientos_</u> <u>chabolistas_Investigacion_Accion_Participativa_sobre_multiples_violencias</u> <u>basadas_en_el_genero_el_caso_de_los_asentamientos</u>
- Giarè, F., Ricciardi, G., & Borsotto, P. (2020). Migrants workers and processes of social inclusion in Italy: The possibilities offered by social farming. *Sustainability*, 12(10). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/SU12103991</u>
- Górny, A., & Kaczmarczyk, P. (2018). A known but uncertain path: The role of foreign labour in Polish agriculture. *Journal of Rural Studies*, 64, 177–88. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrurstud.2017.12.015</u>
- Group of Experts on Action against Trafficking in Human Beings. (2020). *Compendium of good practices in addressing trafficking in human beings for the purpose of labour exploitation*. <u>https://edoc.coe.int/en/trafficking-in-human-beings/10984-compendium-of-good-practices-in-addressing-trafficking-in-human-beings-for-the-purpose-of-labour-exploitation.html</u>
- Group of Experts on Action against Trafficking in Human Beings. (2023). *Evaluation* report Spain - Third evaluation round - Access to justice and effective remedies for victims of trafficking in human beings. <u>https://rm.coe.int/greta-evaluation-report-</u> on-spain-3rd-evaluation-round-greta-2023-10-ac/1680ab8d0f
- Güell, B. (2022). La interseccionalidad en el trabajo agrícola estacional: el caso de Huelva en tiempos de COVID-19. *Estudios Geográficos*, 83(293), e113. <u>https://doi.org/10.3989/estgeogr.2022119.119</u>
- Hedberg, C. (2021). Entwined ruralities: Seasonality, simultaneity and precarity among transnational migrant workers in the wild berry industry. *Journal of Rural Studies*, 88, 510–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrurstud.2021.04.008
- Hedberg, C., & Olofsson, I. (2022). Negotiating the Wild West: Variegated neoliberalisation of the Swedish labour migration regime and the wild berry migration industry. *Environment and Planning A*, 54(1), 33–49. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0308518X211048195</u>
- Heikkilä, E. (2020). Editorial: Foreign seasonal migrants in agriculture and COVID-19. *Migration Letters*, 17(5), 563–67. <u>https://migrationletters.com/index.php/ml/</u> article/view/1153
- Hellio, E., & Moreno Nieto, J. (2021). La ecología-mundo bajo plástico: un análisis de la articulación entre la explotación de la naturaleza, el racismo y el sexismo en la producción de frutos rojos de Huelva. *Relaciones Internacionales*, 47, 125–142. <u>https://doi.org/10.15366/relacionesinternacionales2021.47.006</u>
- Hochedez, C., & Lessault, D. (2021). Les saisonniers agricoles bulgares dans le Loudunais. *Etudes Rurales*, 208, 60–83. <u>https://doi.org/10.4000/</u> <u>etudesrurales.27567</u>
- Imane, A., Rhomri, E., Fatmi, E., Tomé, E., Mata, D., & Izquierdo, R. (2020). *Las mujeres trabajadoras marroquíes de la fresa en los campos de Huelva.* Oxfam. Internal document.

- Iossa, A., & Selberg, N. (2020). Sweden. In Palumbo, L. and Corrado, A. (eds.) Are Agrifood Workers Only Exploited in Southern Europe? Case studies on migrant labour in Germany, the Netherlands, and Sweden. Open Society European Policy Institute. pp. 22–9. <u>https://www.opensocietyfoundations.org/publications/are-agri-food-</u> workers-only-exploited-in-southern-europe
- Iossa, A., & Selberg, N. (2022). Socio-Legal Aspects of Labour Market Segmentation in the Agri-Food Sector in Sweden: Spatio-Temporal Dimensions. *European Journal of Migration and Law*, 24(2), 241–64. <u>https://portal.research.lu.se/en/publications/</u> socio-legal-aspects-of-labour-market-segmentation-in-the-agri-foo
- Ivanov, I., & Wichern, J. (2023). Season @ Work. Information and advice for migrant and seasonal workers in European agriculture. Handbook. EFFAT.
- Kalantaryan, S., Scipioni, M., Natale, F., & Alessandrini, A. (2021). Immigration and integration in rural areas and the agricultural sector: An EU perspective. *Journal of Rural Studies*, 88, 462–472. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrurstud.2021.04.017</u>
- Kapsalis, A. (2022). *Mobility and employment of refugee populations in the Greek region*. International Organization for Migration. <u>https://greece.iom.int/sites/g/files/</u> tmzbdl1086/files/documents/MOBILITY%20AND%20EMPLOYMENT_EN_online.pdf
- Kotsila, P., & Argüelles, L. (2023). The necropolitics of expendability: migrant farm workers during COVID-19. *Journal of Peasant Studies*, 51(2), 441–65. <u>https://doi.org/</u>10.1080/03066150.2023.2243440
- Kotsila, P., & Kallis, G. (2019). Biopolitics of public health and immigration in times of crisis: The malaria epidemic in Greece (2009–2014). *Geoforum*, 106, 223–33. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoforum.2019.08.019</u>
- Krifors, K. (2021). Logistics of migrant labour: rethinking how workers 'fit' transnational economies. *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies*, 47(1), 148–65. <u>https://doi.org/1</u>0.1080/1369183X.2020.1754179
- Kuns, B., Börjeson, L., Fischer, K., Hedberg, C., Olofsson, I., Ovaska, U., Refslund,
 B., Fredrik Rye, J., & Vihinen, H. (2023). From panic to business as usual: What coronavirus has revealed about migrant labour, agri-food systems and industrial relations in the Nordic countries. *Sociologia Ruralis*, 63(4), 907–27. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/soru.12443</u>
- Lechner, C. (2020). Attracting and Protecting Seasonal Workers from Third Countries: Study by the German National Contact Point for the European Migration Network (EMN). Working Paper 89. <u>https://nbn-resolving.org/urn:nbn:de:0168-ssoar-71252-8</u>
- Lenoël, A., & Molinero-Gerbeau, Y. (2018). West African migration to Mediterranean countries and agricultural work. In Tagliacozzo, S., Pisacane, L., & Kilkey, M. (eds.) *MediTERRA: Migration and Inclusive Rural Development in the Mediterranean*. pp. 57–77. https://doi.org/10.3917/scpo.chea.2018.02.0057
- Lidl. (2020). Human Rights Impact Assessment Spanish (Huelva) Berry Supply Chain. <u>https://corporate.lidl.co.uk/content/download/38082/file/</u> <u>HRIABerries_2020VFINAL.pdf</u>
- Lo Cascio, M., & Perrotta, D. (2019). The Intertwinement of Symbolic and Structural Violence: Migrant Agricultural Labourers in Two Regions of Southern Italy. In Vassilopoulou, J., Brabet, J. & Showunmi, V. (eds.). *Race Discrimination and Management of Ethnic Diversity and Migration at Work: European Countries*'

Perspectives Volume 6 (pp. 175–200). <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/s2051-</u> 23332019000006009

- López-Sala, A. (2016). Producing temporariness, (re)producing precariousness: regulation, rights and non-citizenship status of temporary immigrant workers. *Arbor*, 192(777), 1–4. <u>https://arbor.revistas.csic.es/index.php/arbor/article/</u> download/2087/2685?inline=1
- López-Sala, A. (2022). Voices in the fields. Migrant farmworkers during Covid-19 in Spain and new forms of activism for dignity. *Estudios Geograficos*, 83(293). <u>https://doi.org/10.3989/estgeogr.2022113.113</u>
- López-Sala, A., & Molinero-Gerbeau, Y. (2022). Coming out of the shadows? Housing conditions of irregular migrant workers in Spanish agricultural enclaves. *Calitatea Vietii*, 33(2), 93–109. <u>https://doi.org/10.46841/RCV.2022.02.02</u>
- Madero Arias, Á. (2022a). Informe Asentamientos 2022 Consecuencias de la discriminación en los asentamientos en la provincia de Huelva. Andalucía Acoge. <u>https://acoge.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/03/Huelva-22-Consecuencias-discriminacion-asentamientos.pdf</u>
- Madero Arias, Á. (2022b). Asentamientos 2022 Consecuencias de la discriminación en los asentamientos en la Comarma de Níjar (Almería). Andalucía Acoge. https:// https://acoge.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/03/Nijar-22-Consecuenciasdiscriminacion-asentamientos.pdf
- Manea, M. (2022). Chapter 2: Seasonal Migration: Help or Hindrance in the Transition to Adulthood . The case of a rural community in Romania. In M. Manea (ed.) *Migration experience and transition to adulthood in Romania. A multi-method research*. Bucharest: University of Bucharest.
- Marongiu, S. (2021). Characteristics of foreign agricultural work in the Autonomous Province of Trento. *Italian Review of Agricultural Economics*, 76(1), 77–89. <u>https://</u>oajournals.fupress.net/index.php/rea/article/view/12826
- Martín-Moreno, M., Hueso-Kortekaas, K., & Romero, J. C. (2023). Social Life Cycle Analysis of Intensive Greenhouse Farming: A Qualitative View of Tomato Production in Almeria (Spain). World, 4(3), 624–36. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/world4030039</u>
- Martínez, M. A., Brons, A., & Wertheim-Heck, S. C. 0. (2023). How do the people that feed Europe feed themselves? Exploring the (in)formal food practices of Almería's migrant and seasonal food workers. *Agriculture and Human Values*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10460-023-10513-8</u>
- Mata Romeu, A. (2018). La glocalización y sus consecuencias: apuntes sobre los temporeros en la fruticultura leridana. *Barataria*, 24, 209–24. <u>https://doi.</u> org/10.20932/barataria.v0i24.412
- Mattila, T. E. A., Ovaska, U., Kinnunen, B., Tuure, V. M., Leppälä, J., Taattola, K., Rinnola, V., & Rautiainen, R. H. (2021). Experiences and challenges of foreign agricultural workers in Finland. *Journal of Agricultural Safety and Health*, 27(1), 13–28. <u>https:// doi.org/10.13031/JASH.13893</u>
- Melossi, E. (2021). 'Ghetto tomatoes' and 'taxi drivers': The exploitation and control of Sub-Saharan African migrant tomato pickers in Puglia, Southern Italy. *Journal of Rural Studies*, 88, 491–499. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrurstud.2021.04.009</u>

- Messeri, A., Morabito, M., Bonafede, M., Bugani, M., Levi, M., Baldasseroni, A., Binazzi, A., Gozzini, B., Orlandini, S., Nybo, L., & Marinaccio, A. (2019). Heat stress perception among native and migrant workers in italian industries—case studies from the construction and agricultural sectors. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 16(7). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16071090
- Midler, E., Bellec, T., Isabelle, B., Deffontaines, N., Hostiou, N., Jacques-Jouvenot, D., Nicot, A.-M., & Kalainathan, D. (2019). Les conditions de travail et de santé des actifs agricoles. In Forget, V., , Depeyot, J-N., Mahé, M., Midler, E., Hugonnet, M., Beaujeu, R., Grandjean, A., & Hérault, B. (eds.) *Actif'Agri: Transformations des emplois et des activités en agriculture*. Ministère de l'Agriculture et de l'Alimentation Service de la Statistique et de la Prospective Centre d'Études et de Prospective, pp. 84–99. https://hal.inrae.fr/hal-02534832
- Ministerie van sociale zaken en werkgelegenheid. (2022). *Monitor arbeidsuitbuiting en ernstige benadeling 2020-2021*. <u>https://www.nlarbeidsinspectie.nl/</u> <u>publicaties/publicaties/2022/07/07/monitor-arbeidsuitbuiting-en-ernstige-</u> benadeling-2020-2021
- Molinero-Gerbeau, Y. (2018). La privatización de los programas de migración temporal en España como efecto poscrisis. In Arango, J., Mahía, R., Moya, D., & Sánchez-Montijano, E. (eds.) *Anuario Cidob de la Inmigración.* CIDOB, pp. 284–306. <u>https://doi.org/10.24241/AnuarioCIDOBInmi.2018.284</u>
- Molinero-Gerbeau, Y. (2020a). La creciente dependencia de mano de obra migrante para tareas agrícolas en el centro global. Una perspectiva comparada. *Estudios Geográficos*, 81(288), 1–27. <u>https://doi.org/10.3989/estgeogr.202046.026</u>
- Molinero-Gerbeau, Y. (2020b). Dos décadas desplazando trabajadores extranjeros al campo español: una revisión del mecanismo de contratación en origen. *Panorama Social*, 31, 141–53. <u>https://www.funcas.es/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/Yoan-</u> <u>Molinero-Gerbeau.pdf</u>
- Molinero-Gerbeau, Y. (2021a). De complementarios a indispensables. Trabajadores rumanos en los enclaves de producción estacional de Huelva y Lleida. In S. Marcu (ed.) *Transformaciones y retos de la movilidad de los europeos del este en España, treinta años después de la caída del muro de Berlín: 1989-2019*, pp. 239–60. <u>http://</u> hdl.handle.net/11531/58594
- Molinero-Gerbeau, Y. (2021b). The Problem is not Covid-19, it's the Model! Industrial Agriculture and Migrant Farm Labour in the EU. *EuroChoices*, 20(3), 69–74. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1746-692X.12308</u>
- Molinero Gerbeau, Y., & Avallone, G. (2018). Migration and Labour Force Needs in Contemporary Agriculture: What drives states to implement temporary programs? A comparison among the cases of Huelva, Lleida (Spain) and Piana del Sele (Italy). *Calitatea Vietii*, 29(1), 3–22. https://doi.org/10.1111/1746-692X.12308
- Molinero-Gerbeau, Y., & López-Sala, A. (2022). Immigrant workers in the European agricultural sector in times of Covid-19. Regulations, working conditions and new (in)mobilities. *Estudios Geograficos*, 83(293). <u>https://doi.org/10.3989/estgeogr.2022112.112</u>
- Molinero-Gerbeau, Y., López-Sala, A., & Şerban, M. (2021). On the social sustainability of industrial agriculture dependent on migrant workers. Romanian workers in Spain's seasonal agriculture. *Sustainability*, 13(3), 1–17. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/</u>su13031062

- Molinero Gerbeau, Y., & Muñoz Rico, A. (2022). Alimentos industriales, trabajo precario - La explotación laboral de las personas migrantes en la agricultura en España. http://hdl.handle.net/11531/67039
- Moraes, N., Gadea, M. E., Pedreño, A., & De Castro, C. (2012). Enclaves globales agrícolas y migraciones de trabajo: convergencias globales y regulaciones transnacionales. *Política y Sociedad*, 49(1), 13–34. <u>https://revistas.ucm.es/index.php/POSO/article/ view/36517/38524</u>
- Mozo, C., Moreno Nieto, J., & Reigada, A. (2022). Health as an emerging value in the construction of quality of berries in Huelva (Spain). *International Sociology*, 37(6), 698–715. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/02685809221115960</u>
- Mozo, C., Moreno, J., & Reigada, A. (2022). La salud de las temporeras de frutos rojos bajo el prisma de las certificaciones privadas: límites y desajustes de un sistema tecnicista y estandarizado. In De Castro, C., Reigada, A. & Gadea, M. E. (eds.) La producción de la calidad en el sector agroalimentario: un análisis sociológico. Tirant Lo Blanch, pp. 79–118.
- Navarro-Gambín, P., & Jansen, K. (2023). Migrant agricultural workers in search of a dignified life: Labour conditions as a source of vulnerability in Spain. *Sociologia Ruralis*, 64(1), 126–48. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/soru.12462</u>
- Neuhauser, J., & Birke, P. (2023). Migration and labour unrest during the pandemic: Studies from Germany and Austria. *Economic and Labour Relations Review*, 34(3), 426–43. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/elr.2023.31</u>
- Nori, M., & Farinella, D. (2020). *Migration, Agriculture and Rural Development*. IMISCOE. https://link.springer.com/book/10.1007/978-3-030-42863-1
- Olofsson, I., Tollefsen, A., & Hedberg, C. (2023). 'A strong mind and a solid physique': Symbolic Constructions of Migrant Workers in Sweden's Green Industries. *Nordic Journal of Migration Research*, 13(2), 1–17. <u>https://doi.org/10.33134/njmr.484</u>
- Orfano, I., Scaricabarozzi, R., & Moschetti, G. (2022). *Cambia Terra: Dall'invisibilità al protagonismo delle donne in agricoltura*. ActionAid. <u>https://www.actionaid.it/</u>informati/pubblicazioni/cambia-terra
- Organisation Internationale du Travail. (2020). *Les régimes de migration saisonnière: repenser leurs principes et mécanismes fondamentaux à la lumière du COVID-19.* <u>https://www.ilo.org/global/topics/labour-migration/publications/WCMS_747839/</u> <u>lang--fr/index.htm</u>
- Palumbo, L. (2022a). Exploitation in the Agri-Food Sector in Europea. *European Journal* of Migration and Law, 24(2), 287–312. <u>https://brill.com/view/journals/emil/24/2/</u> article-p287_6.xml
- Palumbo, L. (2022b). Exploitation and situations of vulnerability of migrant workers in Europe: Legal and policy responses and challenges. In Triandafyllidou (ed.) *Routledge Handbook of Immigration and Refugee Studies (2nd edn.).* Routledge, pp. 444–54. <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9781003194316-52</u>
- Palumbo, L. & Corrado, A. (eds.) (2020). Covid-19, Agri-food Systems, and Migrant Labour: The situation in Germany, Italy, the Netherlands, Spain, and Sweden. Open Society European Policy Institute. <u>https://cadmus.eui.eu/handle/1814/68030</u>
- Palumbo, L., Corrado, A., & Triandafyllidou, A. (2022). Migrant Labour in the Agri-Food System in Europe: Unpacking the Social and Legal Factors of Exploitation. *European*

Journal of Migration and Law, 24(2), 179–92. <u>https://brill.com/view/journals/</u> emil/24/2/article-p179_1.xml

- Palumbo, L., & Sciurba, A. (2018). The vulnerability to exploitation of women migrant workers in agriculture in the EU: the need for a Human Rights and Gender based approach. European Parliament Policy Department for Citizens' Rights and Constitutional Affairs. <u>https://www.europarl.europa.eu/thinktank/en/document/ IPOL_STU(2018)604966</u>
- Papadopoulos, A. G., Fratsea, L. M., & Mavrommatis, G. (2018). Governing migrant labour in an intensive agricultural area in Greece: Precarity, political mobilization and migrant agency in the fields of Manolada. *Journal of Rural Studies*, 64, 200–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrurstud.2018.03.013</u>
- Papadopoulos, A. G., & Fratsea, L. M. (2021). Migrant and Refugee Impact on Well-Being in Rural Areas: Reframing Rural Development Challenges in Greece. *Frontiers in Sociology*, 6. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fsoc.2021.592750</u>
- Papadopoulos, A. G., Fratsea, L. M., Spyrellis, S., & Baltas, P. (2021). Exploring the contribution of migrant labour in Greek agriculture. Italian Review of Agricultural Economics, 76(1), 33–48. <u>https://oajournals.fupress.net/index.php/rea/article/view/12574</u>
- Paramo, P. (2018). Assessement report on necessary amendments of the legal framework regarding inspections in agriculture Recommendations for reforms in line with ILO Convention No129. International Labour Organization. <u>https://www.ilo.org/</u> employment/units/emp-invest/WCMS_686992/lang--en/index.htm
- Peano, I. (2020). Ethno-racialisation at the intersection of food and migration regimes: Reading processes of farm-labour substitution against the grain of migration policies in Italy (1980-present). *Social Change Review*, 18(1), 78–104. <u>https://doi.</u> org/10.2478/scr-2020-0006
- Pedreño Cánovas, A. (2020). La cuestión jornalera entre dos crisis: condición inmigrante, desafiliación y riesgo de contagio. *Sociología Del Trabajo*, 96, 1–15. <u>https://doi.org/10.5209/stra.70686</u>
- Pedreño Canovas, A., Śanchez-Garcia, M. Á., Gadea Montesinos, M. E., & de Castro Pericacho, C. (2022). Purity and Danger in Spanish Agriculture: Farm Workers During the Pandemic. *Estudios Geograficos*, 83(293). <u>https://doi.org/10.3989/</u> <u>estgeogr.2022114.114</u>
- Pekkarinen, A-G., Haapasaari, S., Jokinen, A., & Lietonen, A. (2022). *Mapping risks to migrant workers in supply chains in Europe - Case studies and best practices from the agriculture, food-processing, manufacturing and hospitality sectors*. International Organization for Migration and the European Institute for Crime Prevention and Control. <u>https://publications.iom.int/books/mapping-risks-</u> migrant-workers-supply-chains-europe-case-studies-and-best-practices
- Pekkarinen, A-G., Jokinen, A., Rantala, A., Ollus, N., & Näsi, R. (2021). *Selvitys ulkomaisen työvoiman hyväksikäytön torjunnan menettelyistä eri maissa*. Euroopan kriminaalipolitiikan instituutti. http://urn.fi/URN:ISBN:978-952-327-947-6
- Pekkarinen, A.G., Turunen, T., Huovinen, R., Haapasaari, S., Jokinen, A., & Ollus, N. (2023). Hyväksikäytön kirjo. Ihmiskaupan kehitys ja toimintatavat Suomessa, Latviassa, Virossa, Puolassa ja Ukrainassa. The European Institute for Crime Prevent and Control. https://heuni.fi/-/report-series-103b-hyvaksikayton-kirjo

- Pelling, L. (2020). *Opening Doors to Labour Immigration: Lessons from Sweden*. Foundation for European Progressive Studies. <u>https://feps-europe.eu/</u> publication/747-opening-doors-to-labour-immigration-lessons-from-sweden/
- Perrotta, D. (2021). The Minister's tears and the strike of the invisible: The political debate on the "regularisation" of undocumented migrant farm labourers during the Covid-19 health crisis in Italy. In Pospěch, P., Fuglestad, E. M., & Figueiredo, E. (eds.) *Politics and Policies of Rural Authenticity*. London: Routledge, pp. 60–76. <u>https://</u> doi.org/10.4324/9781003091714-6
- Perrotta, D., & Raeymaekers, T. (2023). Caporalato capitalism. Labour brokerage and agrarian change in a Mediterranean society. Journal of Peasant Studies, 50(5), 2002–2023. https://doi.org/10.1080/03066150.2022.2072213
- Piro, V. (2021). *Migrant Farmworkers in 'Plastic Factories': Investigating Work-Life Struggles*. Cham: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Plaza del Pino, F. J., Muñoz Lucena, L., Azougagh, N., Gómez Haro, A., Álvarez Puga, B., Navarro-Prado, S., & Cabezón-Fernández, M. J. (2023). Migrant Women in Shantytowns in Southern Spain: A Qualitative Study. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 20(8), 5524. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph20085524</u>
- Poppi, F. I. M., & Travaglino, G. A. (2019). Parea non servin: Strategies of exploitation and resistance in the caporalato discourse. *Modern Italy*, 24(1), 81–97. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/mit.2018.42</u>
- Pradella, L., & Cillo, R. (2021). Bordering the surplus population across the Mediterranean: Imperialism and unfree labour in Libya and the Italian countryside. *Geoforum*, 126, 483–494. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoforum.2020.06.019</u>
- Protopapa, V. (2022). From Rights to Collective Action. A Way Out of Labour Exploitation. *European Journal of Migration and Law*, 24(3), 379–400. <u>https://doi.org/10.1163/15718166-12340134</u>
- Ramos, A. K., Girdžiūtė, L., Starič, J., & Rautianinen, R. H. (2021). Identifying "Vulnerable Agricultural Populations" at Risk for Occupational Injuries and Illnesses: A European Perspective. *Journal of Agromedicine*, 26(3), 340–345. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1059</u> <u>924X.2020.1771498</u>
- Reigada, A. (2021). Collective action, experience and identity in global agri-food enclaves: the case of Andalusia (Spain). In Martin-Diaz, E. and Roca, B. (eds.) *Migrant organising: bricolage, innovation and trade unionism*. Brill.
- Reigada, A. (2022). Un eslabón de la cadenas agrícolas globales: políticas de contratación, trabajo y sexualidad en los campos de fresas en Andalucía (España). *Current Anthropology*, 63(5). https://doi.org/10.1086/720278
- Richardson, L., & Pettigrew, R. N. (2022). Migrant agricultural workers: a comparative analysis of both policy and COVID-19 response in Thailand, Italy, and Canada. *SN Social Sciences*, 2(11), 236. https://doi.org/10.1007/s43545-022-00548-9
- Rodríguez, J. A. G., Bochaca, J. G., & Calvet, N. L. (2021). Migrant temporary workers in the countryside of Lerida (Spain): profiles and socio-occupational situations. *Ager*, 2021(31), 109–137. <u>https://doi.org/10.4422/ager.2021.02</u>
- Rubio González, M., Jiménez-Lasserrotte, M. del M., Ugarte-Gurrutxaga, M. I., El Marbouhe El Faqyr, K., Granero-Molina, J., Fernández-Sola, C., & Plaza del Pino, F. J. (2023).

Experiences of the Migrant Farmworkers during the Syndemic Due to COVID-19 in Spain. *Social Sciences*, 12(5), 273. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/socsci12050273</u>

- Rye, J. F., & Scott, S. (2018). International Labour Migration and Food Production in Rural Europe: A Review of the Evidence. *Sociologia Ruralis*, 58(4), 928–52. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/soru.12208</u>
- Sajir, Z., Molinero-Gerbeau, Y., & Avallone, G. (2022). "EVERYTHING CHANGES, EVERYTHING STAYS THE SAME". THE GOVERNANCE OF MIGRANT LABOR IN SPANISH AND ITALIAN AGRICULTURE IN THE FIRST YEAR OF THE COVID-19 PANDEMIC. *Estudios Geograficos*, 83(293). https://doi.org/10.3989/estgeogr.2022120.120
- Salaris, L., Iacob, A., Anghel, V., & Contu, G. (2022). The Impact of the First Covid-19 Wave on Migrant Workers: The Case of Romanians in Italy. *Central and Eastern European Migration Review*, 11(1), 23–48. <u>https://doi.org/10.54667/ceemr.2022.06</u>
- Salvia, L. (2020). The restructuring of Italian agriculture and its impact upon capital– labour relations: Labour contracting and exploitation in the fresh fruit and vegetable supply chain of the Lazio Region, Central Italy. *Journal of Agrarian Change*, 20(1), 98–112. https://doi.org/10.1111/joac.12340
- Schneider, J., & Götte, M. (2020). Germany. In Palumbo, L. and Corrado, A. (eds.) Are Agrifood Workers Only Exploited in Southern Europe? Case studies on migrant labour in Germany, the Netherlands, and Sweden. Open Society European Policy Institute, pp. 4–12. <u>https://www.opensocietyfoundations.org/publications/are-agri-food-workers-only-exploited-in-southern-europe</u>
- Schneider, J., & Götte, M. (2022). Meat Plants and Strawberry Fields Forever? Precarious Migrant Labour in the German Agri-Food Sector before and after COVID-19. *European Journal of Migration and Law*, 24(2), 265–286. <u>https://brill.com/view/journals/</u> emil/24/2/article-p265_5.xml
- Schneider, M. H., & Gugganig, M. (2021). Saving Bavarian Hops in a "Parallel Universe": Lessons on the Biopolitics of Agricultural Labor in Germany During the Corona Pandemic. *Culture, Agriculture, Food and Environment*, 43(2), 85–95. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/cuag.12279</u>
- Şerban, M., & Croitoru, A. (2022). The COVID-19 pandemic as an opportunity to bring the migration of agricultural workers into focus through media coverage. *Estudios Geográficos*, 83(293). <u>https://doi.org/10.3989/estgeogr.2022117.117</u>
- Şerban, M., Deliu, A., & Manoilă, M. (2022). Impactul migrației în agricultură asupra dezvoltării în comunitățile de origine a migranților. Analiză comparativă în două contexte rurale din România de astăzi. In Croitoru, A. & Iorga, A. (eds.), *Dezvoltare comunitară în România: Concepte, Procese, Modele de Analiză*. Tritonic, pp. 141–61.
- Şerban, M., Molinero-Gerbeau, Y., & Deliu, A. (2020). Are the guest- worker programmes still effective? Insights from Romanian migration to Spanish agriculture. In Rye, J. F. & O'Reilly, K. (eds.) *International Labour Migration to Europe's Rural Regions*. Routledge, pp. 22–36.
- Siegmann, K. A., & Williams, T. (2020). The Netherlands. In Palumbo, L. and Corrado, A. (eds.) Are Agri-food Workers Only Exploited in Southern Europe? Case studies on migrant labour in Germany, the Netherlands, and Sweden. Open Society European Policy Institute, pp. 13–21. <u>https://www.opensocietyfoundations.org/publications/</u> are-agri-food-workers-only-exploited-in-southern-europe

- Siegmann, K. A., Quaedvlieg, J., & Williams, T. (2022). Migrant Labour in Dutch Agriculture: Regulated Precarity. *European Journal of Migration and Law*, 24(2), 217–40. <u>https://</u> brill.com/view/journals/emil/24/2/article-p217_3.xml
- Slater, J., & Kulesa, A. (2022). Re-thinking Approaches to Labour Migration: Potentials and Gaps in Four EU Member States' Migration Infrastructures, Case Study Poland. <u>https://www.migrationpartnershipfacility.eu/knowledge/resources/11-reports/84-</u> rethinking-approaches-to-labour-migration-full-case-study-poland
- Sperneac-Wolfer, P. (2023). "Știu eu pe cineva" Self-Organized Mobility, Labor Intermediation and the Twofold Exploitability of Romanian Workers in the Austrian Fresh Food Sector. Sociologie Romaneasca, 21(1), 75–92. <u>https://doi.org/10.33788/</u> <u>sr.21.1.4</u>
- Stenbacka, S. (2019). Responsibilities, Caring Practices and Agriculture: Farmers' Perspectives on Recruitment and Employer–Employee Relationships. *Sociologia Ruralis*, 59(2), 255–74. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/soru.12223</u>
- Suzanne, A., La, H., & International, S. (2019). *Tackling labour exploitation in Poland, Bulgaria and Romania*. La Strada International. <u>https://documentation.lastradainternational.org/doc-center/3301/rights-at-work-tackling-labour-exploitation-in-poland-bulgaria-and-romania</u>
- Szelewa, D., & Polakowski, M. (2022). European solidarity and "free movement of labour" during the pandemic: exposing the contradictions amid east-west migration. *Comparative European Politics*, 20(2), 238–56. <u>https://doi.org/10.1057/s41295-</u>022-00287-4
- Tagliacozzo, S., Pisacane, L., & Kilkey, M. (2020). The interplay between structural and systemic vulnerability during the COVID-19 pandemic: migrant agricultural workers in informal settlements in Southern Italy. *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies*, 47(9), 1903–21. https://doi.org/10.1080/1369183X.2020.1857230
- Urrego-Parra, H. N., Rodriguez-Guerrero, L. A., Pastells-Peiró, R., Mateos-García, J. T., Gea-Sanchez, M., Escrig-Piñol, A., & Briones-Vozmediano, E. (2022). The Health of Migrant Agricultural Workers in Europe: A Scoping Review. *Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health*, 24(6), 1580–89. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10903-022-01330-y
- Van Eerbeek, P., & Hedberg, C. (2021). Chameleon brokers: A translocal take on migration industries in the Thai-Swedish wild berry business. *Migration Studies*, 9(3), 830–851. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/migration/mnab030</u>
- Vigoroso, L., Caffaro, F., & Cavallo, E. (2020). Occupational safety and visual communication: User-centred design of safety training material for migrant farmworkers in Italy. *Safety Science*, 121, 562–72. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ssci.2018.10.029</u>
- Vincze, H. O., & Balaban, D. C. (2022). Between Conflict and Solidarity: Pandemic Media Coverage of Romanian Intra-EU Labour Migrants. *Media and Communication*, 10(2), 265–75. <u>https://doi.org/10.17645/mac.v10i2.5014</u>
- Voivozeanu, A. (2020). "I wanted to see how to make money there too": Mobility strategies of Romanian seasonal workers in the agricultural sector abroad. *Social Change Review*, 18(1), 13–38. <u>https://doi.org/10.2478/scr-2020-0003</u>
- Williams, C. C., & Horodnic, A. (2018). *Tackling undeclared work in the agricultural sector*. European Commission. <u>https://ec.europa.eu/social/BlobServlet?docId=20424&langId=en</u>

- Zacharuk-Łukaszewska, K. (2022). *Jak się pracuje w Polsce? Obywatele Ukrainy w polskim rolnictwie*. European Union. <u>https://ourfood-ourfuture.eu/news/ukrainian-</u>migrant-workers-agriculture-poland/
- Zadra, F., & Elsen, S. (2022). Preventing and redressing exploitation. Methods of antitrafficking social work outreach in Northern Italy. *European Journal of Social Work*, 27(1), 151–64. https://doi.org/10.1080/13691457.2022.2139665
- Zahn, T., & Vogel, S. (2023). "We're Not in Europe Here": Exploitation in Germany's Asparagus, Strawberry, and Vegetable Farms. 0xfam. <u>https://www.oxfam.de/</u> system/files/documents/oxfam_deutschland_2023_-_exploitation_farmworkers_ germany.pdf

NOTES

- 1 Clunies-Ross & Hildyard, 2010.
- 2 Moraes et al., 2012.
- 3 Molinero-Gerbeau, 2020a.
- 4 Molinero-Gerbeau, 2021b.
- 5 EUROSTAT. (2021). Key figures on the European food chain.
- 6 Rye, J. F., & Scott, S., 2018.
- 7 López-Sala, 2016.
- 8 Corrado, De Castro & Perrotta, 2017.
- 9 This report is based on work by Oxfam Intermón and the University Institute for Studies on Migration (IUEM) at Comillas University in the EU Horizon-funded Safe Habitus project. For more information, see: <u>https://www.safehabitus.eu/</u>
- 10 Di Gennaro et al., 2021.
- 11 Mattila et al., 2021; Kotsila & Argüelles, 2023.
- 12 Papadopoulos & Fratsea, 2021; Nori and Farinella, 2020. Górny and Kaczmarczyk, 2018; Biaback Anong, 2023; Heikkilä, 2020; Lenöel & Molinero-Gerbeau, 2018.
- 13 Papadopoulos et al., 2021.
- 14 Górny & Kaczmarczyk, 2018.
- 15 Pedreño Cánovas, 2020; García Mora et al., 2022; Ceccarelli & Fattibene, 2020; Corrado, 2018; Ivanov & Wichern, 2023.
- 16 Pradella and Cillo, 2021; Górny and Kaczmarczyk, 2018; Heikkilä, 2020; Hedberg, 2021; Olofsson, Tollefssen & Hedberg, 2023; Nori & Farinella, 2020; and Molinero-Gerbeau & López-Sala, 2022.
- 17 Cosma et al., 2020.
- 18 Croitoru & Vlase, 2023.
- 19 European Economic and Social Committee, 2023.
- 20 According to International Labour Organization calculations on EU statistics on income and living conditions, the share of informal employment in agriculture in the EU may reach 61.2% (Williams, 2019). See also: Anderlini, 2022; Nori and Farinella, 2020; Palumbo, 2022a; Lenöel and Molinero-Gerbeau, 2018.
- 21 Molinero-Gerbeau, 2020a; Corrado & Caruso, 2022; Corrado & Palumbo, 2022.
- 22 Cavanna, 2018; Protopapa, 2022; Richardson & Pettigrew, 2022; Tagliacozzo et al., 2020; Nori and Farinella, 2020; Palumbo, 2022a; Palumbo, et al., 2022; Molinero-Gerbeau & López-Sala, 2022; Castillero, 2020; Mata Romeu, 2018; Kotsila & Argüelles, 2023; Rubio González et al., 2023; Sajir, Molinero-Gerbeau & Avallone, 2022; López-Sala & Molinero-Gerbeau, 2022.
- 23 Cavanna, 2018.
- 24 Palumbo, 2022ª.
- 25 Fiałkowska & Matuszczyk, 2021; Schneider & Gugganig, 2021; Bruzelius & Seeleib-Kaiser, 2023.
- 26 Palumbo, 2022a.
- 27 Palumbo, 2022a; Corcione, 2022.
- 28 Nori & Farinella, 2020.
- 29 Fiałkowska & Matuszczyk, 2021.
- 30 lossa & Selberg, 2022.
- 31 Kotsila & Kallis, 2019; Palumbo et al., 2022.
- 32 Palumbo, 2022ª.
- 33 Palumbo et al., 2022; Siegmann et al., 2022; Olofsson et al., 2023.
- 34 Corrado & Palumbo, 2022.
- 35 Lo Cascio & Perrotta, 2019.
- 36 Palumbo et al., 2022.
- 37 Stenbacka, 2019; Urrego-Parra et al., 2022; Ivanov & Wichern, 2023.
- 38 Protopapa, 2022; Cosma et al., 2020; Urrego-Parra et al., 2022; Ivanov & Wichern, 2023.
- 39 Palumbo, 2022a; Molinero-Gerbeau and Avallone, 2018
- 40 Palumbo, 2022a; Dines, 2023; Pradella & Cillo, 2021; Tagliacozzo, Pisacane & Kilkey, 2020.

- 41 Corrado et al., 2020; Corrado & Palumbo, 2022.
- 42 Palumbo, 2022a; Kuns et al., 2023.
- 43 Nori & Farinella, 2020.
- 44 Siegmann, Quaedvlieg & Williams, 2022; Axelsson & Hedberg, 2018; Szelewa & Polakowski, 2021; Lechner, 2020; Palumbo, 2022; Bogoeski, 2022.
- 45 Siegmann et al., 2022.
- 46 Kuns et al., 2023; Krifors, 2021; Axelsson & Hedberg, 2018; Hedberg & Olofsson, 2022.
- 47 Palumbo, 2022a; Siegmann, Quaedvlieg & Williams, 2022.
- 48 Hellio & Moreno Nieto, 2021; Escrivà, 2022.
- 49 Molinero-Gerbeau, 2018; Castillero, 2022a; Lenöel & Molinero-Gerbeau, 2018; Molinero-Gerbeau, 2018; Sajir et al., 2022; Doomernik et al., 2023; Molinero-Gerbeau, 2020b; Molinero-Gerbeau & Avallone, 2018.
- 50 Echajri Amhaouch, 2021; Hellio & Moreno Nieto, 2021; Escrivà, 2022; Molinero-Gerbeau, 2020b; Corrado & Caruso, 2022; Ciconte et al.
- 51 Lenöel & Molinero-Gerbeau, 2018; Hellio & Moreno Nieto, 2021; Escrivà, 2022; Corrado & Palumbo, 2022; Molinero-Gerbeau, 2020b.
- 52 Reigada, 2022; Castillero, 2022a; Garcés Mascareñas & Güell, 2021; Hellio & Moreno Nieto, 2021; Molinero-Gerbeau, 2018; Molinero-Gerbeau, 2020b; Molinero-Gerbeau & Avallone, 2018; Corrado & Caruso, 2022; Filigrana García et al., 2021.
- 53 Doomernik et al., 2023.
- 54 Molinero-Gerbeau, 2020b; Plaza del Pino et al., 2023; Filigrana García et al., 2021; Madero Arias, 2022a; & Madero Arias, 2022a.
- 55 Echajri Amhaouch, 2021.
- 56 Madero Arias, 2022a; Ciconte et al., 2021
- 57 Palumbo et al., 2022.
- 58 Lo Cascio & Perrotta, 2019.
- 59 Krifors, 2021.
- 60 Carmo and & Hedberg, 2019; Olofsson, Tollefssen and & Hedberg, 2023.
- 61 Garcés Mascareñas & Güell, 2021; Mata Romeu, 2018; Kotsila & Argüellas, 2023; González Rodríguez, Garreta Bochaca & Llevot Calvet, 2021.
- 62 Protopapa, 2022; Richardson & Pettigrew, 2022; Kotsila & Kallis, 2019; Schneider & Gugganig, 2021; Schneider & Götte, 2022; Szelewa & Polakowski, 2022; Carmo & Hedberg, 2019; Palumbo et al., 2022; Lenöel & Molinero-Gerbeau, 2018; Sajir et al., 2022; Pedreño Cánovas et al., 2022; García Mora et al., 2022; Filigrana García et al., 2021; Siegmann & Williams, 2020; Lidl, 2020; Madero Arias, 2022a; Ciconte et al., 2021; Corrado et al., 2018
- 63 Pedreño Cánovas, 2020.
- 64 Siegmann et al., 2022; Battistelli, 2021; Carnibella & Wells, 2022; Cavanna, 2018; Pradella & Cillo, 2021; Papadopoulos et al., 2021; Biaback Anong, 2023; Kuns et al., 2023; Lenöel & Molinero-Gerbeau, 2018; Garcés Mascareñas & Güell, 2021; Martín-Moreno et al., 2023; Kotsila & Argüelles, 2023; Checa Olmos et al., 2018; López-Salas & Molinero-Gerbeau, 2022; Midler et al., 2019; Depeyrot et al., 2019; Zacharuk, 2022.
- 65 Bogoeski, 2022.
- 66 Bruzelius & Seeleib-Kaiser, 2023.
- 67 Schneider & Gugganig, 2021.
- 68 Siegmann & Williams, 2020.
- 69 Bagagiolo et al., 2019; Corrado & Caruso, 2022; Checa Olmos et al., 2018.
- 70 Madero Arias, 2022a.
- 71 Ceccarelli & Ciconte, 2018; Orfano et al., 2022
- 72 Protopapa, 2022; Papadopoulos, Fratsea & Mavrommatis, 2018; Siegmann et al., 2022; Bogoeski, 2022; Kuns et al., 2023; Carmo & Hedberg, 2019; Urrego-Parra et al., 2022; Castillero, 2021.
- 73 Doomernik et al., 2023; Bogoeski, 2022; Molinero-Gerbeau, 2021b; Hellio & Moreno Nieto, 2021; Frécenon et al., 2021.
- 74 Siegmann et al., 2022.
- 75 Papadopoulos et al., 2018; Di Gennaro et al., 2021; Protopapa, 2022; Siegmann et al., 2022; Schneider & Götte, 2022; Bogoeski, 2022; Axelsson & Hedberg, 2018; Checa Olmos et al., 2018; Schneider & Götte, 2022; Pekkarinen et al., 2022; Zahn & Vogel, 2023; Lechner, 2020; Zacharuk, 2022; Schneider & Götte, 2022.

- 76 Cosma et al., 2020.
- 77 Bogoeski, 2022.
- 78 Palumbo, 2022ª.
- 79 Pradella & Cillo, 2021; Castillero, 2021; Plaza del Pino et al., 2023; Madero Arias, 2022a, 2022b; Aldi, 2022.
- 80 Bagagiolo et al., 2019; Pradella & Cillo, 2021; Mattila et al., 2021; Castillero, 2022a; Hellio & Moreno Nieto, 2021
- 81 Lenöel & Molinero-Gerbeau, 2018; Castillero, 2021; López-Sala & Molinero-Gerbeau, 2022.
- 82 López-Sala & Molinero-Gerbeau, 2022.
- 83 Schneider & Gugganig, 2021; Cosma et al., 2020; Urrego-Parra et al., 2022; Nori & Farinella, 2020; Lenöel & Molinero-Gerbeau, 2018; Kalantaryan et al., 2021; Castillero, 2022a; Mata Romeu, 2018; Hellio & Moreno Nieto, 2021; Pedreño Cánovas et al., 2022; & Mata Romeu, 2018; Hellio & Moreno Nieto, 2021; Cosma et al., 2020.
- 84 Bruzelius & Seeleib-Kaiser, 2023.
- 85 Fiałkowska & Matuszczyk, 2021; Zahn & Vogel, 2023.
- 86 Bagagiolo et al., 2019.
- 87 Williams, 2019.
- 88 Anderlini, 2022.
- 89 Schneider & Götte, 2020; Zahn & Vogel, 2020.
- 90 Bagagiolo et al., 2019.
- 91 Dines, 2023; Molinero-Gerbeau, 2021b; Ceccarelli, 2018.
- 92 Sajir et al., 2022; Lenöel & Molinero-Gerbeau, 2018.
- 93 Palumbo, 2022a.
- 94 Carmo & Hedberg, 2019; Palumbo et al., 2022; Martín-Moreno et al., 2023; Cáritas, 2020; GRETA, 2020;
 Corrado et al., 2018; Brah Hema, 2020; Ceccarelli, 2018; Ceccarelli & Ciconte, 2018; Depeyrot et al., 2019;
 Iossa & Selberg, 2020a.
- 95 Szelewa & Polakowski, 2022; Lenöel & Molinero-Gerbeau, 2018; Echajri Amhaouch, 2021.
- 96 Battistelli, 2021; Checa Olmos et al., 2018; Protopapa, 2022; Zacharuk, 2022.
- 97 Fiałkowska & Matuszczyk, 2021.
- 98 Cosma, , 2020, p. 20; Szelewa & Polakowski, 2022, p. 247; Midler et al., 2019.
- 99 Axelsson & Hedberg, 2018.
- 100 Bogoeski, 2022.
- 101 Battistelli, 2021; Protopapa, 2022; Echajri Amhaouch, 2021.
- 102 Marongiu, 2021.
- 103 Fiałkowska & Matuszczyk, 2021.
- 104 Górny & Kaczmarczyk, 2018.
- 105 Papadopoulos et al., 2018.
- 106 Ibid.; Papadopoulos & Fratsea.
- 107 Battistelli, 2021; Di Gennaro et al., 2021; Dines, 2023; Lo Cascio & Perrotta, 2019; Pradella and Cillo, 2021; Fiałkowska & Matuszczyk, 2021; Bogoeski, 2022; Carmo & Hedberg, 2019.
- 108 Lo Cascio & Perrotta, 2019.
- 109 Perrotta & Raeymaekers, 2022; Cosma et al, 2020.
- 110 Cáritas, 2020; Filigrana Garcia et al., 2021.
- 111 Zahn & Vogel, 2023.
- 112 Battistelli, 2021.
- 113 Corcione, 2022; Castillero, 2022^a.
- 114 Aldi, 2022.
- 115 Cavanna, 2018; Corcione, 2022.
- 116 Mata Romeu, 2018; Escrivà, 2022; Corrado & Palumbo, 2022; López-Sala & Molinero-Gerbeau, 2022.
- 117 Urrego-Parra et al., 2022.
- 118 Molinero-Gerbeau & Muñoz Rico, 2022
- 119 Palumbo et al., 2022.
- 120 Palumbo, 2022a; Carnibella & Wells, 2022; Corrado & Caruso, 2022; Di Gennaro et al., 2021; Domșodi, 2019; Checa Olmos et al., 2018; Tagliacozzo, Pisacane & Kilkey, 2020.

- 121 Anderlini, 2022; Nori & Farinella, 2020; Melossi, 2021; Molinero-Gerbeau & Avallone, 2018.
- 122 Domșodi, 2019; Carnibella & Wells, 2022; Molinero-Gerbeau, 2021b.
- 123 Dines, 2023.
- 124 Fiałkowska & Matuszczyk, 2021; Allepuz Capdevila & Torres Solé, 2018; Pedreño Cánovas et al., 2022; Corrado & Caruso, 2022.
- 125 Siegmann & Williams, 2020.
- 126 Siegmann et al., 2022; Doomernik et al., 2023.
- 127 Hedberg & Olofsson, 2022.
- 128 Iossa & Selberg, 2022.
- 129 Hedberg & Olofsson, 2022.
- 130 Hochedez & Lessault, 2021.
- 131 Lenöel & Molinero-Gerbeau, 2019.
- 132 Bogoeski, 2022; Van Eerbeek & Hedbarg, 2021; Castillero, 2020; Escrivà, 2022.
- 133 Urrego-Parra et al., 2022; Doomernik, Garcés-Mascareñas & Güell, 2023; Garcés-Mascareñas & Güell, 2021; Mata Romeu, 2018; Fernández-García et al., 2023; López-Sala & Molinero-Gerbeau, 2022; Plaza del Pino et al., 2023; Aldi, 2022; Ceccarelli & Fattibene, 2020; Ciconte et al., 2021.
- 134 Palumbo, 2022a; Battistelli, 2021
- 135 Palumbo, 2022a; Perrotta & Raeymaekers, 2022; Tagliacozzo, Pisacane & Kilkey, 2020.
- 136 Schneider & Götte, 2022.
- 137 Hochedez & Lessault, 2021.
- 138 Caruso, 2018.
- 139 Brovia & Piro, 2021.
- 140 Nori & Farinella, 2020; Brovia & Piro, 2021.
- 141 Schneider & Gugganig, 2021; Cosma et al., 2020; Fiałkowska & Matuszczyk, 2021; Bogoeski, 2022; Marongiu, 2021.
- 142 Hochedez & Lessault, 2021; Mattila et al., 2021; Iossa & Helberg, 2022; Axelsson & Hedberg, 2018; Doomernik et al., 2023; Siegmann et al., 2022; Schneider & Gugganig, 2021; Schneider & Götte, 2020; Fiałkowska & Matuszczyk, 2021; Bogoeski, 2022; Castillero, 2021; Castillero, 2020; Brovia & Piro, 2021; Corrado & Palumbo, 2022; Páramo, 2018.
- 143 Molinero-Gerbeau, 2021b; Schneider & Gugganig, 2021; Fiałkowska & Matuszczyk, 2021; Bogoeski, 2022; Filigrana García et al., 2021, Madero Arias, 2022a.
- 144 Fiałkowska & Matuszczyk, 2021.
- 145 Frécenon et al., 2021.
- 146 Bogoeski, 2022; Zahn & Vogel, 2023; Lechner, 2020.
- 147 Nori & Farinella, 2020; Górny & Kaczmarczyk, 2018; Echajri Amhaouch, 2021; Castillero, 2020, 2021; Hellio & Moreno-Nieto, 2021; Filigrana et al., 2021; Lidl, 2020; Madero Arias, 2020a, 2020b; Corrado et al., 2018; Pekkarinen et al., 2022.
- 148 Kuns et al., 2023; Krifors, 2021.
- 149 Bogoeski, 2022; Siegmann et al., 2022; Fiałkowska & Matuszczyk, 2021; Brovia & Piro, 2021; Siegmann & Williams, 2020; and Páramo, 2018.
- 150 Hellio & Moreno-Nieto, 2021; Castillero, 2020.
- 151 Filigrana et al., 2021.
- 152 Cáritas, 2020.
- 153 Castillero, 2022a; Escrivà, 2022; Rubio-González et al., 2023; Plaza del Pino et al., 2023; Di Gennaro et al., 2021; Fravega, 2023; García-Mora et al., 2022.
- 154 Kotsila & Argüelles, 2023; Castillero, 2020; Rubio-González et al., 2023; López-Sala & Molinero-Gerbeau, 2022; Molinero-Gerbeau, López-Sala & Şerban, 2021; Molinero-Gerbeau & Muñoz Rico, 2022; GRETA, 2020; Pekkarinan et al., 2022; Brovia & Piro, 2021; Di Gennaro et al., 2021; Dines, 2023; Fravega, 2023; Sajir et al., 2022; and Kotsila & Kallis, 2019.
- 155 Brovia & Piro, 2021; Kotsila & Kallis, 2019.
- 156 Hedberg, 2021; Mata Romeu, 2018; López-Sala, 2022; López-Sala & Molinero-Gerbeau, 2022; Molinero-Gerbeau, López-Sala & Şerban, 2021; Brovia & Piro, 2021; Lo Cascio & Perrotta, 2019; Ceccarelli, 2018; Brah Hema, 2020; Kotsila & Kallis, 2019.
- 157 Garcés-Mascareñas and Güell, 2021; López-Sala & Molinero-Gerbeau, 2022; Plaza del Pino et al., 2023; Molinero-Gerbeau, López-Sala & Şerban, 2021; García-Mora et al., 2022; Madero Arias, 2022a.

158 Madero Arias, 2022a

159 Dines, 2023; Perrotta, 2021.

- 160 Corrado & Caruso, 2022.
- 161 Dines, 2023; Lo Cascio & Perrotta, 2019; Tagliacozzo et al., 2020.
- 162 Nori & Farinella, 2020; Molinero-Gerbeau, López-Sala & Şerban, 2021; Fravega, 2023; Lo Cascio & Perrotta, 2019; Melossi, 2021; García-Mora et al., 2022.
- 163 Molinero-Gerbeau, 2021b; López-Sala & Molinero-Gerbeau, 2022; Corrado & Caruso, 2022; Pedreño Cánovas, 2020; Plaza del Pino et al., 2023; Molinero-Gerbeau, López-Sala & Şerban, 2021; Brovia & Piro, 2021; Tagliacozzo et al., 2020; García-Mora et al., 2022; Ceccarelli, 2018; Brah Hema, 2020.
- 164 Brah Hema, 2020.
- 165 Lenoël & Molinero-Gerbeau, 2018; Pedreño Cánovas, 2020.
- 166 García Mora et al., 2022.
- 167 Corrado & Caruso, 2022; López-Sala & Molinero-Gerbeau, 2022.
- 168 Castillero, 2021; Kotsila & Argüelles, 2023; López-Sala & Molinero-Gerbeau, 2022; Pedreño Cánovas et al., 2022; Ciconte et al., 2021; García-Mora et al., 2022.
- 169 Brovia & Piro, 2021.
- 170 Lo Cascio & Perrotta, 2019.
- 171 Dines, 2023.
- 172 Filigrana García et al., 2021; Lidl, 2020; Madero Arias, 2022a, 2022b.
- 173 García-Mora, Cingolani & Pérez-Prieto, 2023.
- 174 Hellio & Moreno-Nieto, 2021.
- 175 Frécenon et al., 2021.
- 176 Ceccarelli & Ciconte, 2018
- 177 Molinero-Gerbeau, López-Sala & Şerban, 2021; López-Sala & Molinero-Gerbeau, 2022.
- 178 Melossi, 2021; Brovia & Piro, 2021.
- 179 Fiałkowska & Matuszczyk, 2021.
- 180 Ibid.; Brovia & Piro, 2021.
- 181 Ciconte et al., 2021
- 182 Ceccarelli & Ciconte, 2018
- 183 Iossa & Selberg, 2020a
- 184 Carmo & Hedberg, 2019; Van Eerbeek & Hedberg, 2021.
- 185 Iossa & Selberg, 2022.
- 186 Ciconte et al., 2021
- 187 Pedreño Cánovas, 2020.
- 188 Ibid.; Palumbo, 2022a; Dines, 2023; Perrota & Raeymaekers, 2022; Pradella & Cillo, 2021.
- 189 Van Eerbeek & Hedberg, 2021; Hedberg, 2021.
- 190 Lechner, 2020; Schneider & Götte, 2022; Cosma et al., 2020; Bogoeski, 2022.
- 191 Palumbo, 2022a; Dines, 2022; Perrota and Raeymaekers, 2022; Pradella and Cillo, 2021.
- 192 Schneider and Götte, 2022; Simion, Ban and Gabor, 2020; Bogoeski, 2022.
- 193 Madero Arias, 2020a, 2020b.
- 194 Paramo, 2018.
- 195 Madero Arias, 2020ª.
- 196 Battistelli, 2021; Hellio & Moreno Nieto, 2021; Escrivà, 2022.
- 197 Midler et al., 2019.
- 198 Battistelli, 2021; Pradella & Cillo, 2021; Protopapa, 2022; Lenöel & Molinero-Gerbeau, 2018.
- 199 Echajri Amhaouch, 2021; Escrivà, 2022; Aldi, 2022.
- 200 Pradella & Cillo, 2021.
- 201 Molinero-Gerbeau & Muñoz Rico, 2022; Schneider & Götte, 2020; Siegmann & Williams, 2020.
- 202 Protopapa, 2022; Di Gennaro, 2021; Hellio & Moreno-Nieto, 2021.
- 203 Kuns et al., 2023; Urrego-Parra et al., 2022.
- 204 Molinero-Gerbeau & Muñoz Rico, 2022; Cáritas, 2020; Siegmann & Williams, 2020.
- 205 Corrado et al., 2018; Ceccarelli, 2018; Brah Hema, 2020.

245 Battistelli, 2021; Martín-Moreno et al., 2023 246 Di Gennaro et al. 2021. 247 Filigrana Garcia et al., 2021; Lidl, 2020; Orfano et al., 2022; Iossa & Selberg, 2020; Paramo, 2018. 249 Siegmann & Williams, 2020.

- 240 Fiałkowska & Matuszczyk, 2021; Madero Arias, 2022a. 241 Fiałkowska & Matuszczyk, 2021
- 242 Garcés Mascareña & Güell, 2021; Molinero-Gerbeau & López-Sala, 2022; Molinero-Gerbeau & Muñoz Rico 2022; Cicconte et al. 2021; Sajir, Molinero-Gerbeau & Avallone, 2022.

207 Lenöel & Molinero-Gerbeau, 2018; Pedreño Cánovas, 2020; Checa Olmos et al., 2018; Checa Olmos et al.,

212 Castillero, 2021; Garcés Mascareñas & Güell, 2021; Hellio & Moreno Nieto, 2021; Plaza del Pino et al., 2023;

216 Papadopoulos, et al., 2021; Krifors, 2021; Palumbo, Corrado & Triandafyllidou, 2022; Molinero-Gerbeau &

217 Castillero, 2022b; Palumbo et al., 2022; López-Sala & Molinero-Gerbeau, 2022; Molinero-Gerbeau, 2020b;

219 Bogoeski, 2022; Palumbo et al., 2022; Nori & Farinella, 2020; Molinero-Gerbeau & Muñoz Rico, 2022.

210 Bagagiolo et al., 2019; Corrado & Palumbo, 2022; Pradella & Cillo, 2021; Palumbo et al., 2022.

López-Sala, 2022; Mata Romeu, 2018; Brovia & Piro, 2021; Pradella & Cillo, 2021.

236 Martín-Moreno et al., 2023; Kotsila & Argüelles, 2023

- 243 Ceccarelli & Ciconte, 2018; Ceccarelli, 2018

206 Kotsila & Kallis, 2019.

211 Echajri Amhaouch, 2021.

214 Echajri Amhaouch, 2021. 215 Ceccarelli & Ciconte, 2018.

213 Escrivà, 2022.

220 Lidl, 2020.

228 Ibid.

230 Ibid.

237 Pelling, 2020. 238 Messeri et al. 2019

239 Ibid.

222 Nori & Farinella, 2020.

229 Bagagiolo et al. 2019

231 Fiałkowska & Matuszczyk, 2021 232 Urrego-Parra et al., 2022 233 Brah Hema, 2020. 234 Siegmann et al., 2022 235 Madero Arias, 2022a.

224 Iossa & Selberg, 2020, 2022. 225 Bagagiolo et al., 2019. 226 Messeri et al., 2019. 227 Urrego-Parra et al., 2022

2023; Nori & Farinella, 2020. 208 Lenöel & Molinero-Gerbeau, 2018. 209 Siegmann & Williams, 2020.

Filigrana García et al., 2021; Pekkarinen et al., 2022.

Pedreño Cánovas, 2020; Pekkarinen et al., 2022.

221 Ciconte et al., 2021; Slater & Kulesa, 2022; Paramo, 2018.

223 Pradella & Cillo, 2021; Olofsson et al., 2023.

218 Ivanov & Wichern, 2023; Axelsson & Hedberg, 2018; Bogoeski, 2022.

- 244 Schneider & Götte, 2020.

- 250 Corrado & Palumbo, 2022.
- 251 Schneider & Götte, 2020.
- - 248 Brah Hema, 2020.

- 252 Mozo et al., 2022.

253 EFFAT, 2019. 254 Fiałkowska & Matuszczyk, 2021. 255 Pradella & Cillo, 2021. 256 Fiałkowska & Matuszczyk, 2021. 257 Zacharuk, 2022. 258 Protopapa, 2022. 259 García-Mora et al., 2022; Lidl, 2020. 260 Aldi, 2022. 261 Fiałkowska & Matuszczyk, 2021; Mozo, Moreno Nieto & Reigada, 2022; EFFAT, 2023. 262 Martín-Moreno et al., 2023. 263 García-Mora et al., 2022; Madero Arias, 2022b. 264 Mozo, et al., 2022. 265 Matilla et al., 2021. 266 Fiałkowska & Matuszczyk, 2021. 267 Frécenon et al., 2021. 268 Papadopoulos & Fratsea, 2021. 269 Fiałkowska & Matuszczyk, 2021. 270 Escrivá, 2022. 271 Ibid. 272 Ceccarelli, 2018. 273 Orfano et al., 2022. 274 Anderlini, 2022; Aldi, 2022. 275 Escrivá, 2022; Urrego-Parra et al., 2022. 276 Mozo, et al., 2022. 277 Mattila et al., 2021. 278 Di Gennaro et al. 2021. 279 Ibid. 280 Messeri et al. 2019. 281 Urrego-Parra et al., 2022. 282 Pradella & Cillo, 2021. 283 Escrivá, 2022; Urrego-Parra et al., 2022. 284 Escrivá, 2022. 285 Kuns et al., 2023; Mozo, Moreno Nieto & Reigada, 2022; Escrivá, 2022. 286 Cosma et al., 2020. 287 Hochedez & Lessault, 2021; Kotsila & Kalis, 2019. 288 Kotsila & Argüelles, 2023; Lenoël & Molinero-Gerbeau, 2018. 289 Bagagiolo et al., 2019. 290 Tagliacozzo et al. , 2020; Di Gennaro et al., 2021. 291 Kotsila & Argüelles, 2023 292 Corrado & Palumbo, 2022. 293 Molinero-Gerbeau & López-Sala, 2022. 294 Peano, 2020; Protopapa, 2022; Garcés-Mascareña & Güell, 2021, Kotsila & Argüelles, 2023, Ciconte et al., 2021. 295 Ceccarelli & Ciconte, 2018. 296 Filigrana García et al., 2021. 297 Tagliacozzo et al., 2020; Kotsila & Kalis, 2019, Kotsila & Argüelles, 2023; Mattila et al., 2021; Urrego-Parra et al., 2022; García-Mora et al. 2022. 298 Madero Arias, 2022a. 299 Biaback Anong, 2023; Cosma et al., 2020; Bogoeski, 2022; Palumbo, 2022. 300 Cosma et al., 2020.

301 Bogoeski, 2022; Palumbo, 2022; Zahn & Vogel, 2023; Lechner, 2020.

- 302 Siegmann et al., 2022; Kuns et al. 2023; Depeyrot et al., 2019; Frécenon et al., 2021.
- 303 Doomernik et al., 2023.
- 304 Szelewa & Polakowski, 2022.
- 305 Molinero-Gerbeau, 2021a.
- 306 Biaback Anong, 2023; Şerban & Croitoru, 2022; Vincze & Balaban, 2022.
- 307 Şerban & Croitoru, 2022; Vincze & Balaban, 2022.
- 308 Palumbo, 2022; Corrado & Caruso, 2022; Dines, 2023; Biaback Anong, 2023; Szelewa & Polakowski, 2022.
- 309 Perrotta, 2021; Palumbo, 2022, Ambrosini, 2022; Richardson & Pettigrew, 2022, Corcione, 2022.
- 310 Corrado & Caruso, 2022; Corrado & Palumbo, 2022.
- 311 Siegmann et al., 2022; Corrado & Caruso, 2022; Palumbo, 2022.
- 312 Corrado & Caruso, 2022; Corrado & Palumbo, 2022; Schneider & Gugganig, 2021; Schneider & Götte, 2022.
- 313 Biaback Anong, 2023; Schneider & Gugganig, 2021; Schneider & Götte, 2022, Bogoeski, 2022; Szelewa & Polakowski, 2022; Bruzelius & Seeleib-Kaiser, 2023.
- 314 Iossa & Selberg, 2022; Palumbo et al., 2022.
- 315 Kuns et al., 2023.
- 316 Molinero-Gerbeau et al., 2021; Iossa & Selberg, 2022; Palumbo et al., 2022.
- 317 Castillero, 2021; Pedreño Cánovas, 2020; Sajir et al., 2022; Doomernik et al., 2023.
- 318 Cosma et al., 2020
- 319 Castillero, 2021.
- 320 Sajir et al., 2022; Palumbo, 2022; Kotsila & Argüelles, 2023; Corrado & Palumbo, 2022; Doomernik et al., 2023
- 321 Palumbo et al., 2022; Dines, 2023.
- 322 Heikkilä, 2020.
- 323 Sajir et al., 2022; Perrotta, 2021; Ambrosini, 2022.
- 324 Carnibella and Wells, 2022; Siegmann et al., 2022
- 325 Molinero-Gerbeau, 2021a, 2021b; Corrado & Palumbo, 2022, Biaback Anong, 2023; Sajir et al., 2022.
- 326 Corrado & Caruso, 2022; lossa & Selberg, 2022.
- 327 Corrado & Palumbo, 2022.
- 328 Bogoeski, 2022; Szelewa & Polakowski, 2022.
- 329 Cosma et al., 2020; Bogoeski, 2022.
- 330 Schneider & Götte, 2022.
- 331 Sajir et al., 2022; Corrado & Palumbo, 2022; Richardson & Pettigrew, 2022; Biaback Anong, 2023; Schneider & Gugganig, 2021; Bogoeski, 2022; Pedreño Cánovas, 2020; Rubio González et al., 2023; Doomernik et al., 2023; Corrado & Caruso, 2022; Kuns et al., 2023; Palumbo et al., 2022.
- 332 Cosma et al., 2020.
- 333 Ibid.; Schneider & Gugganig, 2021; Szelewa & Polakowski, 2022.
- 334 Cosma et al., 2020.
- 335 Siegmann et al., 2022.
- 336 Molinero-Gerbeau & López-Sala, 2022; Szelewa & Polakowski, 2022; Palumbo et al., 2022; Corcione, 2022.
- 337 López-Sala, 2022; Sajir et al., 2022; Molinero-Gerbeau & López-Sala, 2022.
- 338 Tagliacozzo et al., 2020; Rubio González et al., 2023; Corrado & Palumbo, 2022; Sajir et al., 2022; Molinero-Gerbeau & López-Sala, 2022.
- 339 Sajir et al., 2022.
- 340 Corrado & Palumbo, 2022; Protopapa, 2022.
- 341 Sajir et al., 2022; Garcés-Mascareñas & Güell, 2021; Pedreño Cánovas et al., 2022.
- 342 In a broad sense, this includes sociology, anthropology, political science, cultural studies, law, history, social work, etc.
- 343 Including pharmacy, nursing, public health, health services studies, etc.
- 344 Includes melons and strawberries.
- 345 The sum of the articles reported for each country in **Table 3** does not add up to the total count of 140 because some texts cover multiple countries.

0xfam

Oxfam is an international confederation of 21 organizations, working with its partners and allies, reaching out to millions of people around the world. Together, we tackle inequalities to end poverty and injustice, now and in the long term – for an equal future. Please write to any of the agencies for further information or visit www.oxfam.org.

Oxfam America (www.oxfamamerica.org) Oxfam Aotearoa (www.oxfam.org.nz) Oxfam Australia (www.oxfam.org.au) Oxfam Australia (www.oxfam.org.au) Oxfam In-Belgium (www.oxfam.org.br) Oxfam Brasil (www.oxfam.org.br) Oxfam Canada (www.oxfam.ca) Oxfam Colombia (www.oxfam.ca) Oxfam Colombia (www.oxfam.corg) Oxfam France (www.oxfamfrance.org) Oxfam Germany (www.oxfam.de) Oxfam GB (www.oxfam.org.uk) Oxfam Hong Kong (www.oxfam.org.hk) Oxfam IBIS (Denmark) (www.oxfamibis.dk) Oxfam India (www.oxfamindia.org) Oxfam Intermón (Spain) (www.oxfamintermon.org) Oxfam Ireland (www.oxfamireland.org) Oxfam Italy (www.oxfamitalia.org) Oxfam Mexico (www.oxfammexico.org) Oxfam Mexico (www.oxfammexico.org) Oxfam Novib (Netherlands) (www.oxfamnovib.nl) Oxfam Québec (www.oxfam.qc.ca) Oxfam South Africa (www.oxfam.org.za) KEDV (www.kedv.org.tr)

SafeHabitus

SafeHabitus is a four year (2023 – 2026) Horizon Europe funded project that aims to improve working conditions for farmers and farm workers by reducing occupational injuries and fatalities and thereby enhancing the social sustainability of EU food systems.

This report summarises existing research related to the role of seasonal, mobile and migrant workers in agriculture and the challenges they face, including workplace hazards and housing and transport issues.

Find out more about the project here: https://www.safehabitus.eu/ and sign up to our newsletter to keep informed of new reports and future activities: https://dashboard.mailerlite.com/forms/337217/80737265502914041/share





www.oxfam.org